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P R O C E E D I N G S
MR. PRESIDENT:
Good morning, ladies and gentlemen.  For the purpose of the record, there is no change in the appearances for both sides.  
Mr. MacDonald, you may continue.  

MR. SEGATWA:
Good morning, Mr. President.  There is a last minute change.  I still represent Mr. Sagahutu, Innocent, and I am assisted by Co‑counsel Seydou Doumbia and Mathias Sahinkuye as our legal assistant. 

MR. PRESIDENT:
Thank you.  

Yes, Mr. MacDonald, you may continue.  

MR. MACDONALD:
Yes, thank you.  Just to mention that Maître St‑Laurent will be here later on this morning.  He is not here now but will be later on.
WITNESS GDE
CROSS‑EXAMINATION (continued)
BY MR. MACDONALD:
Q.
Good morning, Witness.  

A.
Good morning, Counsel. 

Q.
When we last broke last week, we were discussing the ‑‑ your arrival at Laurent's house, and you had mentioned that you were with Munyankindi, who was with you during the trip from his house to Laurent's house.  And I believe that you had mentioned that when you got to Laurent's, Munyankindi went back home; never entered the premises at Laurent's house.  Now, I also understand that you, when you arrived on, or close to, the premises of Laurent's house, you would have hid because you would have seen there were soldiers, soldiers were there, and I am not sure whether or not that's the situation.  I would like you to tell us, if you may, what you saw when you arrived at Laurent's house.  Could you describe the scene? 

A.
There were soldiers who came, looking for my children who were there.  They were told that the children were ‑‑ some of them were Laurent's sisters and others were her own children. 

Q.
So, when you got there the soldiers were already at Laurent's house?  They were in the house, if I understand correctly.  

A.
Some of them were within the compound, and others were outside the compound.  And they were asking for the identity of the children.  These soldiers in fact did not know Laurent's family very well, and they were asking if all those children belonged to the family.  The family answered them that some of the children were of the family and others belonged to the sister of Laurent.  

Q.
But at the time, I understand that you were outside, so how could you ‑‑ how could you hear what is said between the soldiers and Laurent or other people in the house? 

A.
I did not hear what they were saying to each other.  I went through the back, through a coffee plantation, and I went to hide.  I came back into the compound after the departure of the soldiers, so I did not hear this exchange between the soldiers and members of Laurent's family. 

Q.
But then again, you mentioned previously in your testimony you couldn't even tell the difference between a soldier and a gendarme.  So I assume that you learnt that these gentlemen that were there that you saw at Laurent's house, you learnt subsequently that they were soldiers, right? 

MR. TAMBADOU:
My Lord, I wish to object.  I'm not too sure entirely where the witness had said that she could not tell the difference between the gendarmes and the soldiers. 

MR. PRESIDENT:
(Microphone not activated)... but later she identified them from the uniform.  

MR. TAMBADOU:
Yes.  Between the soldiers and Interahamwe.  My learned friend referred to gendarmes. 

MR. PRESIDENT:
And gendarmes also.  

MR. TAMBADOU:
Yes, as Your Lordship please.  

MR. MACDONALD:
Again, I'm going to direct my learned friend across because he hasn't read the material, obviously.  The cross‑examination is in the Osuji section, page 6, where she says ‑‑ and this is line 33, Mr. President, page 6 where she says, "I was not in the position to distinguish between a soldier and a gendarme until I went to Kabgayi."  And when she was at Laurent's house she was not at Kabgayi yet.  So this is where ‑‑ 

BY MR. MACDONALD:
Q.
So, did you understand the question?  

A.
I cannot remember the question.  Please repeat.  

Q.
Certainly.  When you got to Laurent's house, I am suggesting to you that you saw some people there, some people in, I believe, in uniform, but, again, at that time, at that particular time, when you got to Laurent's house, you didn't know whether or not these gentlemen were soldiers, gendarmes or even soldiers for the RPF, as far as you are concerned, because you had mentioned in your cross‑examination earlier on, and I just pointed this out to the Tribunal, that you had mentioned that you couldn't really tell the difference between a gendarme and a soldier before you got to Kabgayi.  So you didn't know who they were.  There were people there in uniform, but you didn't know who they were.  

A.
They were not gendarmes; they were soldiers who were wearing camouflage uniform.  It is true that I was in the bush, but it was not at night.  I saw them passing.  They passed uphill from where I was hiding, and I saw them. 

Q.
I'll ask you to listen very careful to the question.  It doesn't matter whether they are gendarmes or RPF or soldiers.  It doesn't really matter.  What I am seeking from you is the confirmation that at the time that you saw these gentlemen, these people, these people in uniform at Laurent's house, at that time you didn't know if they were soldiers, if they were gendarmes, if they were RPF or even Interahamwe for that matter.  Is that correct? 

A.
I was able to know.  I was able to know their identity because when I went into the house they gave me their identity.  Besides, they would come to the house now and then looking for Tutsis and looking for the children that I referred to.  So they were not Interahamwes; they were soldiers.  I saw them. 

Q.
Well, I didn't think he'd get to that but, again, I have to read out to you the passage, again, the Osuji segment.  This is part of your cross‑examination from last week.  And you said at page 6, line 33, "I was not in a position to distinguish between a soldier and a gendarme until I went to Kabgayi."  So that was what you said last week.  So if what you are saying today is true, then what you said last week is not because ‑‑ for obvious reasons.  

MR. BÂ:
Objection, Mr. President.  

MR. PRESIDENT:
Yes. 

MR. BÂ:
The witness is not testifying in 1994.  He's (sic) doing it now, 11 years on.  And she got to know a certain number of things since then.  She's giving information on the basis of information she received subsequent to the events.  If she did not know at the time of the events, she knows it now.  And when she gives her testimony before this Chamber, she has to refer to things she knew.  She cannot just overlook everything that she’s gotten to know.  I don’t see the contradiction. 

MR. MACDONALD:
Well, this is clearly pointless because it has nothing to do with what ‑‑ I don't understand the objection.  She says in her cross‑examination last week she couldn't tell the difference between a gendarme and a soldier before she got to Kabgayi, so Laurent’s incident is before that. 

MR. PRESIDENT:
Now she knows it.  The counsel says that now she knows that the people who were there were soldiers, because now she identifies the distinction.  

MR. MACDONALD:
No, no, no.  She knows because it was told to her, it was said to her at Laurent's house, and I'm assuming that what she would tell us is, "Laurent told me that these gentlemen were soldiers."  So that’s a contradiction with what she said last week when she said, "I couldn't tell the difference when I got to Kabgayi."  This is what I am trying to bring out here, not the fact.  

BY MR. MACDONALD:
Q.
Ma'am, you said last week you couldn't tell the difference between a gendarme and a soldier before you got to Kabgayi, and that's after spending some time at Laurent's house.  You are saying this morning you could tell the difference, basically, because you could see some people at Laurent's house, and they told you that these people were soldiers.  So what is the ‑‑ what version should we retain here? 

A.
You should understand that those people I saw were soldiers, and when I got to Kabgayi I saw gendarmes, and I realised they were different from those I saw previously.  I make the difference between the gendarmes I saw at Kabgayi and the soldiers I saw at Laurent's, and it's also Nyiransabimana that I saw at Shyogwe.  It is when I got to Kabgayi that I realised that there were gendarmes who were different from the uniformed persons that I saw at Laurent’s. 

Q.
Well, that doesn't make any sense because you had already seen, according to your testimony, gendarmes at Shyogwe, and the people you saw at Laurent's house were not dressed the same way, so you should have ‑‑ at that particular time you should have made the difference, but it doesn't really matter.  

Now, concerning your son, ***********(sic), your son who was 15 at the time, I had understood until I read the ‑‑ reread the transcript ‑‑ I had understood in your testimony that your children had left your house before you had left your house, you and your husband.  And I realised that at page 2 of your testimony in chief, you are referring to your son as ‑‑ you are saying that it is the son who had stayed home.  Now, could you try to explain to us what did *********** do, when did he leave, where did he go, so on and so forth.  First of all, did he leave before you did? 

A.
When I left the house, I was carrying a child on my back and I was with my husband.  Our children were still very young.  That one stayed with the elder brother, and since he couldn't find him at a certain point in time, he went to hide in the bush.  His elder brothers were hidden by other persons.  He travelled the whole night and found me at Kabgayi, where I was already. 

Q.
I mean, did he leave the house after you did, you and your husband, or did he leave before? 

A.
They had even destroyed our house, and it was torched; it was burnt down.  A good samaritan helped him, but since he could not keep him in his house, he kept him in the bush and was giving him food.  Later on he advised him to go to Kabgayi to join members of his family. 

Q.
Well, again, that seems to be incorrect, not the part in response to my question, but the other part about your house being torched.  When you left your house, your house was not torched.  You forgot that, because in your testimony in chief at page 3, the question was asked ‑‑ on this page 3, and what you said is you had seen houses burnt down but not necessarily your house, close to your house, in the secteur neighbouring yours.  But you never mentioned in chief that your own house was burnt down, because we all understood here that when you left, your children left and you left with your husband, and although there was imminent danger, you had not ‑‑ I mean, your house was not on fire when you left.  You had sufficient time to leave without seeing that.  

A.
But the house was torched, and when I came back, the house was no longer there.  It had been torched, together with the entire compound.  There were only (unintelligible) when I came back.  I was not there when the house was torched, but when I came back I realised that it had been torched.  My children were not hiding far from the house.  They were hiding in a neighbour's house, and they saw what happened, and the neighbour who hid them also saw the event.  

MR. PRESIDENT:
Yes. 

MR. TAMBADOU:
My Lord, I just wanted to draw Your Lordship's attention to the same page my learned friend has referred to, page 3, line 2.  Following the question, the witness did say that, "Our houses were burned the following day, afterward." 

MR. PRESIDENT:
The question was at the time she left.  

MR. TAMBADOU:
Yes, My Lord.  As Your Lordship please.  

MR. PRESIDENT:
Yes, Mr. Macdonald.  

BY MR. MACDONALD:
Q.
Should I understand now that when you left with your husband to go to Shyogwe, your children were still around your house; they were at a neighbour's house, watching what was going on?  Is that your position this morning at 9:28? 

A.
The children were on the hills and were being chased around when they burnt down our house.  They were able to see that our house had been burned down, but obviously, when it was being burned down, the children were no longer there. 

Q.
I forgot one question regarding Munyankindi.  When you arrived at Laurent's house with Munyankindi, obviously, Munyankindi realised that some people in uniform, some soldiers, as you described them, were present there.  My question to you is the following.  I understand that you went to hide in the bushes before entering the premises.  I'm assuming that Munyankindi stayed with you for a while and also hid in the bushes with you until these soldiers left.  Is that correct? 

A.
No, Munyankindi left immediately.  There was another neighbour whose house was uphill from Laurent's place.  He was an elderly man.  He signaled Munyankindi.  We sent a child to him.  But Munyankindi would not have been able to stay there.  Since he had seen what was happening, he could not have stayed there. 

Q.
Well, since the purpose of the exercise of him going with you was to more or less protect you, what was the hurry for him to leave at that particular point?  I mean, there are soldiers there; there's imminent danger.  Why? 

A.
But he helped me get to my destination, and he could not have come to confront the soldiers and tell them that he was accompanying somebody.  But didn't you hear some people were killed at that place?  

Q.
So your version of events were that Munyankindi helped you, travelled with you, up until you got to Laurent’s house, and then when he realised the imminent danger ‑‑ soldiers were there ‑‑ he left; he left you alone? 

A.
Yes, he left me there.  Besides, he was not able to see the family members that we were going to see.  He was scared, and he was trembling.  He left me there, but later on he met other persons from whom he asked about me, and those people told him that I was still alive. 

Q.
How did you find that out? 

A.
He got the information from my daughter, my daughter who used to bring me foodstuffs when I was in Kabgayi.  She used to bring me foodstuff in a small box, and she used to come and see me at Kabgayi.  Later on, she was threatened and beaten, and she was no longer able to bring me foodstuffs. 

Q.
It's just that I don't understand, again, your answer.  Given the fact that Munyankindi had helped you go through many roadblocks, he had, if what you are saying is true, jeopardised his own life by helping you.  I don't understand why he would leave at that particular point.  

But I'll pass on to something else.  Just with respect to*********, your son, do you know where he went before Trafipro? 

A.
My son is called *********. 

Q.
Harelimana, I'm sorry.  Do you know where he went before going to Trafipro? 

A.
You mean before he found me at Trafipro?  Well, he was in the bush.  He did not go anywhere else.  I told you that my children dispersed.  They were not travelling together.  They could have chased him on the hills and killed him.  He could uproot cassava and sweet potatoes to eat, but that during the night, and that’s how he managed to survive.  And the person who would have hidden him was not able to do that ‑‑ or rather, help him to get to Kabgayi, because that is where we were.  That is what I have told you.  So he came to find us in Kabgayi later on. 

Q.
You are saying that your children were dispersed.  Well, first of all, four of them ended up at Laurent's house, so is that just pure luck or ‑‑ because it's not clear.  I questioned you a few times on what had been decided, who was going where, and I didn't get a clear answer on that.  I got contradictions from you on that.  So what was the plan?  Were they dispersed or not, and if they were, how did the four of them end up at Laurent's house? 

A.
I told you that we had sent the younger children before, having seen that the situation was critical and that we would soon be affected.  We sent four children who were younger, and we remained with the older ones, the young people.  And I went with the baby I was carrying on my back.  And my sons told me, "You and your husband, try and find a hiding place.  We are still young; we will try to run away."  Last week I told you that we sent the younger ones in advance and, as a matter of fact, they did not go together.  One left first, two others travelled together, and another followed.  They did not leave at the same time.  I have explained this point to you.  I don't understand why you are still questioning me on it. 

Q.
Because each time we ask a question we get a different answer.  That's the reason.  

You mentioned the name Muguboka, and it’s spelled, M‑U‑G‑U‑B‑O‑K‑A.  Now, speaking of different answers at different places:  Where was he killed?  Where did you see his body?  Because, again, we have two different answers here.  So we might get a third one, or you might confirm one or the other two.  So which one is it?  Where did you see his body? 

A.
It is not that I saw his body; I saw him being killed at Kabgayi.  It was at the roadblock that was below the church.  I saw someone being killed at that roadblock, and once I got to Kabgayi, opposite the place where we were, I saw Muguboka being killed.  I have already told you this, I believe. 

Q.
Well, there's an answer at page 10 of your examination‑in‑chief where you are referring to the moment where you are with the gendarmes at Shyogwe.  And this is what you mention at line 33, page 10, again.  This is the Burum segment.  You say, "They slapped me three times, and then they let me go.  A little further on I saw the body of one Muguboka that they had just killed."  Now, who are you referring to when you say "they had just killed"?  Because throughout page 10 ‑‑ 

A.
You did not correctly record my testimony.  I said that Muguboka was killed in Kabgayi.  I did not tell you that there was someone who had been killed when I saw gendarmes at Shyogwe.  I said I was told by ‑‑ or signaled to by a soldier to leave, and I left.  With regard to what I said about Shyogwe, I said that at Kinini there was a device which was being used to dig a pit where people who had been killed were being buried.  I told you that I saw Muguboka being killed at Kabgayi, and I think this was correctly recorded. 

MR. PRESIDENT:
Yes, Mr. Counsel.  

MR. TAMBADOU:
My Lord, I just wish to make an observation.  My learned friend is not being entirely honest.  The section that he read is quite true.  But if he goes on to page 11, where I asked the question again, and this was the question:  "What was the name of this person again you just mentioned?"  And then she said he was called Gasana.  My learned friend has not read that portion.  He is giving the impression that the only response that the witness has given on this issue was on page 10, when it continued on to page 11.  As Your Lordship please.  

MR. PRESIDENT:
Yes.  

MR. MACDONALD:
Well, that's an extra contradiction.  I was going to get to that, because she speaks of Muguboka, unless somebody made a mistake and didn't take the right name down, but she clearly mentions about Muguboka, and then she speaks about Gasana, and then that’s where my friend cross‑examines her to get her to change her answer because it doesn't fit, obviously.  So there's another contradiction here.  She said ‑‑ she spoke about Muguboka.  And the reason I am bringing this up ‑‑ it could be minor contradictions, but it seems to me it’s a script that she's tried to remember, and she's obviously making mistakes left and right.  So it's nothing; it's not a major contradiction, but it's a contradiction, I think.  I feel I have to bring it up.  

BY MR. MACDONALD:
Q.
Madam, now with respect to the incidents at Trafipro, you mentioned to the Court that you had been raped on three occasions.  Actually, you had been raped three times on two different occasions, one occasion where you were not raped.  And you mentioned in your testimony in chief, page 4, in the Osuji segment that ‑‑ just want to make sure I get this right.  You mention in your testimony, ma'am, that during the third rape, third incident, they took you into the woods to rape you; you got raped by two individuals.  And it's the second soldier that would have covered your eyes, and you say, "The second soldier covered my eyes so I never saw him leave."  You remember saying that? 

A.
I told you it was the first soldier who covered my eyes.  As for the second, I do not know when he left.  Only he kicked me before he left.  That is how I knew he was leaving.  I told you it was the first soldier, rather, who covered my eyes. 

Q.
All right.  Let me just get to that, ma'am.  All right.  I have the passage here.  I made a mistake ‑‑ or maybe I didn't.  There's two Osuji segments, it seems, in the examination‑in‑chief.  This is what you say in page 4, the second Osuji segment, and this is at line 36.  You say, "I was raped by the soldiers.  I'm talking about my own case.  A soldier raped me, then a second soldier raped me, but the second, soldier ‑‑ the second soldier covered my eyes so that I never saw him leave."  So what is it?  Is it the first or the second?  

A.
I told you it was the first who covered my eyes.  The second ‑‑ when the second one left, he kicked me.  That is how I knew he had finished raping me.  In fact, he added a few remarks, and if you wish to know, I will tell you what he said.  Otherwise, it was the first soldier who took my loincloth and covered my eyes.  As I said, this was the second occasion.  

Q.
No, it's not what you said to the Court.  You specifically testified here that it was not the first, but the second soldier who covered your eyes.  I want to know why you said that to this Court.

A.
Listen, I did not lie to you.  I told you the truth.  I don't know if my testimony was correctly recorded.  I told you a soldier took me, he had a gun, he took me into the small wood, he covered my eyes, and did have his way with me.  There was another soldier close to us who came, raped me, and prior to leaving, kicked me, saying, "You Tutsi women are not dying like the men because you have something to offer men."  He said, "At any rate, you ought to be sent back to your home, Abyssinia."  Otherwise, it was the first solder who took me from the camp where I was, who came armed with a gun. 

Q.
The soldier who made comments ‑‑ and you mention in chief, page 5, one of the soldiers would have said, "Even the god of the Tutsis has forsaken you."  Am I to understand that the soldier that told you that is not one of the soldiers who raped you; is that what you are saying? 

A.
I told you it was the soldier who had just raped me and who just kicked me who made those remarks.  He said that, "Tutsi women have something to offer men so that they will not die as the men are."  And then he added that even our god, the god of the Tutsis, had forsaken us, that our god was no longer in Rwanda, he had abandoned us, and that we should go to Abyssinia.  

Q.
Again, there's a contradiction within your own deposition here.  I draw your attention to page 4, 
line 36.  "I was raped by the soldiers.  I'm talking about my own case.  A soldier raped me, then a second soldier raped me, but the second soldier covered my eyes so that I never saw him leave."  And then you continue.  "And another soldier came and asked us what we were still doing there, because even the god of the Tutsis had forsaken you.  I am wondering why you are still here, still alive."  So the soldier you are referring to in your earlier deposition is another soldier.  It's a third soldier.  You got raped by two, then another one came and told you ‑‑ made these comments about your god.  This is what is clearly indicated here in the transcript.  Is that the case or is it ‑‑ 

A.
Let me ask you, have you clearly understood me?  I told you a soldier took me into the small wood and raped me, raped me, then I went back to the camp.  The second time I was taken ‑‑ I was with other women, of course ‑‑ along the way a soldier ‑‑ or a vehicle belonging to the whites from the 
Red Cross came along, and there was also another girl with us.  And I told you what happened on that occasion.  The third time I said a soldier took me to the small wood, and that the first soldier covered my eyes and raped me.  The second soldier kicked me after raping me.  And after kicking me, he said, "What are you still doing ‑‑ what are you still doing, the Tutsis, you Tutsis."  I don't know if you have correctly recorded my statements.  Otherwise, I remember giving my testimony in this manner. 

Q.
Well, so do I.  That's why I saw a contradiction there.  So your position now is to say the soldier that made the comments with respect to your god was the second one, the second one that raped you, and not another soldier.  

You mentioned, ma'am, that while you were taken out in the woods during the incidents where you were allegedly raped, you mentioned that you saw some bodies there.  And strangely enough, even though you are a good distance from your house, it seems that all the people you saw at Trafipro ‑‑ and I am not sure if you mention about the people ‑‑ the cadavers you saw in the woods, but they were all people you knew, all your neighbours.  I'd like to ask you, these cadavers that you saw, these cadavers that you saw in the woods, madam, did you notice whether or not these ‑‑ their hands were tied?  Did you notice any of the cadavers where their hands were tied? 

A.
I do not know if you are recounting what I said.  I said I saw corpses, both men and women, girls, boys.  I told you their hands were tied.  I myself had a situation to deal with when I was being taken into the bush.  I didn't have time to study this closely.  I told you there was a girl who was next to me, who had been taken together with me, and after raping her, her rapist stuck a sword between her legs.  When these people were killed, normally ‑‑ otherwise we were there; we saw them.  Their executioners never tied their hands. 

Q.
But with respect to the ones that you did see with their hands tied, ma’am, if what you are saying is true and you saw some cadavers in the woods ‑‑ and this is not a certitude on my part, but it seems that, according to certain authors, namely, Alison Des Forges ‑‑ and I will draw your attention to page 820 of the book called ‑‑ 

MR. MACDONALD:
I have the French version, Mr. President, Aucun Témion ne doit survivre..
BY MR. MACDONALD:
Q.
This is it what Alison Des Forges ‑‑ and, again, I am not taking this for a certitude ‑‑ 

MR. BÂ:
Mr. President, what is the relevance of that?  This witness does not know Alison Des Forges.  
Alison Des Forges was not in Rwanda when the events took place.  He is just trying to taint the transcript.  He just wants to give it a certain flavour.  She knows nothing about Alison Des Forges, and Alison Des Forges was not in Rwanda when the events took place. 

MR. PRESIDENT:
You can refer to that in your submissions.  

MR. MACDONALD:
Well, I would like to refer it to her now because, according to Alison Des Forges, who is coming to testify here, apparently -- we’re not sure of that yet -- but according to Alison Des Forges, the people that were there in the woods at Kabgayi church, these people were not Tutsis; they were Hutus who had been killed by the RPF.  I want to put that to her because the first question I asked to the witness was with respect to the identification of the soldiers, you will recall.  And there was somewhat of a contradiction when she said, "I found out in Kabgayi the difference." 

MR. PRESIDENT:
Yeah, you can put it to her, if you want ‑‑ 

MR. MACDONALD:
It's just a very short paragraph.  I'm not even asking to produce it because I know that they are going to object from across.  This is what she says, page 820, and I'll have to read it in French for the interpreters.  

BY MR. MACDONALD:
Q.
"When the RPF took over the Kabgayi church complex, where thousands of Tutsis were gathered in camps, RPF soldiers were killing Hutu civilians and left some of the bodies with their hands tied in the woods which were close to the church." 

MR. PRESIDENT:
But she's referring to the incident before RPF arrival.  She's referring to this incident before the arrival of the RPF.  

MR. MACDONALD:
Well, this is ‑‑ 

MR. TAMBADOU:
My Lord. 

MR. MACDONALD:
This is a theory, Mr. President, because ‑‑ 

MR. PRESIDENT:
Let him put that. 

MR. TAMBADOU:
My Lord, but not only that.  But she's referring to the period when she was attacked, people in the woods not far from there.  Now, my understanding is that that's different from the Kabgayi church, 
My Lord.

MR. MACDONALD:
No, it's not. 

MR. TAMBADOU:
Yes, it is.  You haven't been there.  It's a different venue, My Lord.  But I will let him put his answer (sic).  As Your Lordship please. 

MR. MACDONALD:
There’s just one thing, Mr. President.  I said it’s not certitude.  It’s said by Alison Des Forges.  Who is Alison Des Forges?  I don't know.  She might be called here.  It’s just what struck me is the fact that the hands were tied.  This is why I am putting it. 

MR. PRESIDENT:
Yes.  

BY MR. MACDONALD:
Q.
Now, when you say you were raped by the soldiers, you had never seen ‑‑ you had never seen an RPF soldier, right? 

A.
No.  If they had been there, I would not have been raped.  I did not see those soldiers.  They had not yet arrived.  

Q.
Madam, I'm going to read you a passage later on, where an ex‑member of the RPF, who was recruited at the same time you were by the RPA, who says ‑‑ who testifies, not anonymously, but gives his name, his address, and what he says is that when the RPF attacked Rwanda from `90 to `94, they were killing everybody on their passage, Hutus or Tutsis; it didn't make a difference.  I will read this to her later on.  

So what I am putting to you, madam, is that you didn't even know it ‑‑ if you were raped by some people, you didn't even know if they were soldiers, Interahamwes or soldiers of the RPF.  Because it could well be, if that passage I read you is right ‑‑ 

A.
I told you I was raped by soldiers from the then-Rwandan army.  The RPF had not yet arrived in Kabgayi.  When they came, they liberated us, told us to flee.  I did not see them rape anybody or kill anybody.  When the RPF arrived in Kabgayi, they told us, "You must flee."  Indeed, we did flee.  We went on the Kabgayi road, the tar road.  No one from the RPF ever reached Kabgayi before we were liberated, and no one from the RPF even visited the camp whilst we were at Kabgayi. 

Q.
Well, for your information ‑‑ again, and this is not from ‑‑ doesn't provide from my imagination but from the RPF soldiers themselves who say there were infiltrators well before the final attack in that area of Rwanda.  

A.
I do not know if there were any RPF elements who had infiltrated, but in any case, when I was at Kabgayi, or when I left my house, I saw no RPF soldier.  The first time I saw an RPF soldier was when the RPF was coming to liberate us, when the RPF advised us to leave Kabgayi, and we immediately left the place.  Those who were weary ‑‑ given that there were some who were ill because of the beatings or illnesses, they helped us to ferry the people who were too weak to walk.  But before that period, I had never seen an RPF soldier.  

Q.
Madam, coming back to the rapes again ‑‑ you mentioned it last week and I believe you mentioned it again today.  During one of the occasions when you were allegedly raped, you saw a girl, a woman, being stabbed, obviously with a knife, and ‑‑ where was that?  On which occasion did you see that? 

A.
This was on the third occasion, the third occasion. 

Q.
Okay.  And this ‑‑ not only was she stabbed, but I am referring to my notes here ‑‑ you mentioned she was stabbed between the legs.  Now, that was on the third incident.  And you mentioned that this person was a student, right?  You recall that?  

A.
Yes. 

Q.
And that was the only incident, I assume, that you saw where a person had been stabbed in your presence, that you had seen with your own eyes; is that correct? 

A.
No, that was not the only occasion.  I saw other persons being killed with small hoes, sticks, small sticks that they used to hit people on the head.  Even some young people were resisting, tried to protect themselves.  In fact, this was the only person I saw being killed with a bayonet.  Other persons were killed with sticks, clubs and other weapons. 

Q.
When you refer to a bayonet, because at other places you mention ‑‑ such as your statement, you mention a knife.  Are you referring to the same ‑‑ when you mention a bayonet is that a knife to you?  Is it the same thing or is it two different things? 

A.
They had several weapons.  There were small hoes, clubs, and they had distributed weapons to all members of the population, even the Interahamwe had grenades.  They had distributed grenades to members of the population.  Those who had no guns had small hoes.  I don't know how to describe the small hoe to you.  It's a hoe.  It's a double‑edged hoe.  They were distributing these weapons at the roadblock and elsewhere. 

Q.
That wasn't the question, but as I understand it, you only saw one person being killed with either a knife or a bayonet.  I'll take that for certitude.  

A.
Yes, it is that young girl.  They stuck a knife or a bayonet between her legs.  I saw it immediately and I fled.  They stuck a dagger between her legs. 

Q.
Well, I respectfully submit to you that you’re, again, you are crossing your stories with your statement.  Because in your statement, and I am referring to page 4, you mention seeing one person being killed with a knife, but that was not during the third incident.  That would have been during the third incident.  And I am referring to the third paragraph.  You say, "One of them died."  Referring to the first time, again, the first incident.  "One of them died, although I do not know who she was.  She was killed with a knife."  This is the only time you mention anybody being killed with a knife in your statement, and you confirm with your statement, with your deposition, that you only saw one.  But where you are getting your stories crossed is because in your statement you do speak about a student, but it's not the same person.  And you speak about that student ‑‑ you speak about a student not coming back to Trafipro, but you never mention that she was killed with a knife.  So you got your stories crossed with the student and the incident with the knife, and now you tend to mix these two people up with being one and only one person.  

A.
I spoke about this.  I spoke about only this young girl.  With regard to the other persons killed, you can ask me questions about the circumstances of their deaths, but otherwise, I spoke about this young girl who was killed with a dagger.  With regard to the others who were killed, they were killed in the open field.  And I was an eyewitness to their death.  Otherwise, I did not make reference to two separate girls.  I spoke about one girl. 

Q.
In your testimony in chief, madam, at page 5 from the Osuji segment, you said that you saw one person, one girl, who got stabbed between the legs.  And at line 15 you are referring to that, or you are saying, "I was an eyewitness to this incident.  She was a student."  So that was the first incident.  Or that's ‑‑ I'm sorry.  That's right, the third.  In here you say this happened on the third time, the third incident, the third rape.  But in your statement you mention that you only saw one person being stabbed, but it wasn't during the third rape; it was during the first rape.  And what you said during the third rape is that the person who did not come back ‑‑ one of the girls did not come back, and she was a student, but you never saw she was stabbed.  

So I am submitting to you respectfully, ma’am, that you got your stories mixed up because you are learning all this, and, obviously, there is a lot to remember.  And you are not testifying from your memory, but you are testifying because you are learning, or you are reciting something you learnt.  It's normal for you to make mistakes.  

A.
No, I'm not recounting any story that was told me by someone else.  I am recounting my own story, what happened to me.  I have told you that on the first occasion this young girl was taken away.  On the second occasion when she was being taken away, the Red Cross arrived and they didn't take her away any more.  Now, the second girl was a student, and what showed that she was a student was that she had an insignia on her blouse.  And that was the young girl that was raped and who was stabbed between the legs.  I saw this because those who raped her took all their time.  They were not in a hurry to rape us.  Now, with regard to other persons who died, there were many.  And I've talked about all those persons.  

Q.
Concerning Kambanda's visit, you mentioned that at Trafipro, I believe, the day that he visited Trafipro, the day that he was there, there was a large‑scale attack.  I would have one other question.  Other than Kambanda, while were you at Trafipro, had you received at any time either the bourgmestre or the préfet or any other dignitaries? 

A.
I did not see any authorities, any officials come to visit us.  I knew our bourgmestre, but I did not see him at the place. 

Q.
Now, Kambanda, had you ever seen Kambanda before or are you assuming that this person was Kambanda because people were saying he's Kambanda? 

A.
There was a large crowd of people, and everyone was saying that it was the Prime Minister Kambanda.  And when he came, we applauded.  Some of us were saying, "Why are you applauding, because what will he do for you?"  Then he went back.  But people were saying that this was 
Jean Kambanda, the prime minister, and that was the first time I was seeing him. 

Q.
Concerning the attacks, what you called ‑‑ what you referred to as the large‑scale attacks, you mentioned in your deposition that, I believe, that the first attack, the first of these, and you referred to two attacks, the first of these attacks would have happened ‑‑ would have taken place the day that Kambanda visited Trafipro, is that correct, to your recollection? 

A.
Yes, we were attacked, and the attackers fired at us throughout the night.  And in the morning they killed a lot of people who were within the complex.  I told you there were a lot of refugees.  The attackers fired at the refugees and then they left.  Besides, since the departure of Kambanda, the attacks never ceased.  It's as if he started off a series of attacks on us.  And there was no day without an attack.  There were always bodies, and there was somebody in charge of burying the dead bodies.  I don't know if that person in charge of burying the dead bodies was a refugee or not. 

Q.
Again, it was a very short question and could have been answered with a very short answer, ma'am.  The question was, when these attacks took place, the first attack, was that the day that Kambanda came to see you at Trafipro; yes or no? 

A.
He came where we were around 10 a.m.  And during the night, we were attacked, and the attackers killed some of us. 

Q.
Was that the first attack? 

A.
I have no clear recollection of that because there was a second attack the day we were liberated by the Inkotanyi.  But every day there were people killed, and these people were killed by the attackers.  The large‑scale attack was the one I referred to.  I can't remember whether it was the first or second one, but there were always dead bodies.  

Q.
What struck me when you spoke of attacks, madam, was that I don't understand if the description you are giving to the Court is correct with respect to the fact that each and every day soldiers or Interahamwes would come into the compound, get people, take them out, either rape them or kill them, and that was done every day and even many times a day.  I mean, why should there be an attack, why should they bother attacking if they could come in and just take people, take them out, kill them, rape them, and bring them back, the ones that they rape, or why would they attack, madam?

A.
I think the attackers wanted to terrorise us and get us out of the compound and kill us.  Otherwise, they would come every day at 10 a.m. or any other time they chose.  On that day, it was a way of showing us that they were strong and they could do whatever they pleased with us.  Besides, they were boosting in front of us and insulting us.  

Q.
Well, at that time, couldn't have the RPF attacked?  Couldn't they have intervened and liberated you?  Because you are referring to the second attack ‑‑ 

A.
But where was the RPF?  I told you that the RPF came on one occasion ‑‑ or once, and freed us.  That is when I saw the RPF troops.  Before that day, I did not see those RPF troops in Kabgayi.  And on that day, the day we were liberated, they left Kabgayi and went elsewhere.  So I saw the RPF troops on only one day. 

Q.
Well, I understand that you saw the RPF, that the RPF liberated you, as you put it, the day of the second attack.  So where were the RPF? 

A.
How am I supposed to know?  How am I supposed to know where the RPF was?  The Interahamwe and the soldiers attacked us early in the morning.  There were many of them.  And they went back on the hills.  And those who went to fetch water from the river were killed ‑‑ about three of them were killed while they were going to fetch water.  We did not know that we were going to be attacked on that day.  The attackers came early in the morning.  They fired into the complex, and when the RPF came, the attackers fled.  They went through ‑‑ went through the fence, the fence which was in barbed wire.  And when the RPF came, the attackers had already killed a good number of us.  

Q.
Madam, when you refer to the different rape incidents, whether it be in your testimony, your deposition or whether it be in your statement, I'm assuming that when you went back to Trafipro, after each and every event, whether it be the first, the second or the third occasion, when you were brought to the woods to be raped, I understand, madam, that after these incidents, you went back to Trafipro of your own will.  You decided to go back to Trafipro yourself.  And I am referring especially to the second event where the gentleman from the Red Cross indirectly intervened and where the soldiers fled.  Am I to understand, madam, that each and every time you went back to Trafipro you went back of your own will?  You weren't dragged back by anyone?  

A.
But I had nowhere else to go, to flee to, so I had no choice.  My husband was there, and he would boil water to care for me, to press my body with the hot water after the rape.  He would massage me with hot water.  

Q.
One question on your RPA card.  I asked you yesterday ‑‑ not yesterday, last week, in the cross‑examination in the afternoon, I put to you the question whether or not you had been encouraged by your children to join the RPA.  And you mentioned ‑‑ just a second.  I'm sorry.  You mentioned that your children had nothing to do with it.  You remember telling me that? 

A.
I know that. 

Q.
And I was referring to your testimony, and I was under the impression that you had mentioned it, but you said no, you had never mentioned.  Now, I do have the transcript in my possession, and I am referring to page 6, the Burum segment, and page 18.  And again, you mention this.  You say, "I joined this party, and it's thanks to young people who sensitised us that I joined this party."  Of course, you are referring to the RPA.  "It was when we started hearing gunshots, and these young men came to sensitise us, and I took a membership card of that party."  And then there is a question.  "Again, you are not answering the question.  This is what I put to you."  And then you say in answer, line 22, "It was my children."  And then I put another question to you, and you reply at page 25, "But it is true, even ‑‑ I even had a membership card, and as I've ‑‑ and as I've told you, it is my children who brought me this card."

A.
Are you saying that was my testimony here?  Now, to start with, I don't know who the young men you are referring to.  I told you I met somebody who had cards, and that person is dead.  I was coming back from the farm, and this person gave me a membership card.  Now, with regard to the young men, in fact, they also received cards.  There were three of us who received membership cards.  I never told you that I was sensitised by the young men, nor my children.  My children were adults, and they were behaving ‑‑ they were the (unintelligible), and I cannot ask them to join any party.  I told you that on my way back from the farm, I met somebody who said he could give us RPF (sic) member cards.  And that is when I took an RPF membership card.  It was not the young men doing the RPF sensitisation.  I did not say that they were the ones who sensitised me to join the RPF.  When I got there, they were receiving the cards, and I also took one.  The man I was talking about did not have a megaphone or a vehicle to campaign for the RPF, and he did not have the authority to put up announcements on behalf of the RPF.  I have explained all these things to you.  I don’t know what else you want from me.  You are just making me repeat. 

Q.
You think, madam, by putting these long, very long answers, that we're all going to get confused and we're only going to see smoke, right?  Why did you tell the Court that your children had brought you that card?  Why? 

A.
That was not my testimony.  Let me answer you briefly.  I told you I was coming back from the farm, and I found somebody campaigning for that party, and it was that person who gave me the membership card of the party.  I have therefore given you a brief answer so as to avoid creating confusion in your mind, as you claim. 

Q.
Well, I'm not just going to pass on this, madam.  You said in your testimony ‑‑ I pointed out the passage to you.  You said that it was your children.  "It is my children who brought me this card."  This is what we all heard, and this is what was taken down by the professionals that work here.  Now, I want to know why you said that in the first place and why you are changing your answer.  

A.
But did you not record the other part which said, that I was returning from the farm and that I met this man who was distributing cards and that my two sons who are dead also received the same cards together with me?  I never said it was the children who brought me the card. 

Q.
You never mentioned, madam, and you know it, you never mentioned that your children ‑‑ the question was even put to you that your children were a member of that, and you said, "No, they had nothing to do with that."  

MR. TAMBADOU:
My Lord, I wish to make another observation.  My learned friend probably has his own interpretation of what is contained in the transcript, but I would urge My Lords to read the transcript, particularly the same lines that my learned friend has referred to, from line 13, I would suggest, or 11, which starts with the question -- My Lord, you read it all.  I don't want to waste the Court’s time by reading the whole transcripts, but I would urge My Lords to have a look at that portion of the transcripts and what the witness says.  Your Lordship please.  

MR. PRESIDENT:
Yes, we will.  

BY MR. MACDONALD:
Q.
Madam, you mentioned the incident about the Red Cross, the individual distributing food for the 
Red Cross.  You said in your deposition that, I believe, that when you saw him, I believe he was with his wife in the car and at that particular point in time you were crossing the road.  Do you remember saying that? 

A.
I remember.  And, in fact, it was on the second occasion, when my attackers were taking me to rape me. 

Q.
Okay.  I gather that.  But I'm assuming here that you had been into the woods, you were crossing a road to go to wherever you wanted to go, because they had not raped you at that particular point in time.  So could you give us an approximation of the distance from the compound, the Trafipro compound, the distance they would take you to proceed to these rapes?  It was like a 10-, 15-, 20‑minute walk or ‑‑ if you can, give us an approximation.  I would appreciate it. 

A.
I'm not in a position to estimate the distance.  What I could do is give you the number ‑‑ by giving you the number of minutes.  What there was, there was a road that passed in front of Trafipro, and we would cross this road, and we would go a short distance from the road.  It is as if you were going across this wall that is opposite me.  It is not far. 

Q.
And when he arrived, he was in his car, and you say that the soldiers, they sort of panicked; they just left.  They were more or less taken by surprise with the presence, the arrival, of that person.  So they all ran, right? 

A.
No.  It's not that the soldiers were afraid.  Some were leading us, but others had arrested the young girl I referred to, and the white man I spoke of gave the soldiers money ‑‑ the soldiers who were with the young girl, who had arrested the young girl.  And I think that the soldiers who were with us scurried towards the white man in an attempt, perhaps, to get some money as well.

Q.
This is so interesting, what you are telling us.  It is unreal.  It is unreal, madam.  First of all, this incident with this young girl, you never mentioned that before.  As I referred to you last time, you just pulled that from a hat because you had to put that person there somewhere.  You say in your statement the following, madam, and I am referring to your statement of April 1999.  You say ‑‑ you are referring to the second incident, page 4, paragraph 4, and you say the following, "As we were about to start raping us, a white man working for the Red Cross came in his vehicle.  When the soldiers saw him, they scattered in all directions.  Some ran with the women beneath the hospital, the rest of us were able to run toward the church, and others back toward Trafipro.  I went back to Trafipro."  

Now, the scene you are describing in your statement has nothing do with what you are saying now.  They were going to rape you and they went ‑‑ they started running towards this man from the 
Red Cross to get some money.  Why are you making that up? 

A.
But I've already told you about the young girl.  She was light in complexion and had been arrested by the soldiers.  And had they got to a place where there was a house -- but in fact you are not writing down everything that I am saying.  You say it was beneath the hospital.  It was actually beneath the sisters’ convent.  So he had arrested this young girl and was taking her at the time when the vehicle had stopped by them.  We were somewhat downhill from there, not far from there.  I told you about this young girl who was covered with a cloth and who was light in complexion.  I think she must have been a Muslim.  I think I mentioned this. 

Q.
You made that up here.  But you never mentioned that in your statement.  And it has nothing to do with the young girl.  I think the point is made that you never mention her before, and you just made it up.  But what I am getting at here is when you say in your statement that when they saw the man from the Red Cross, the soldiers, they scattered in all directions.  What did you mean by that?  First of all, do you remember saying that back in April 1999, or is your memory better today than it was in 1999?  

A.
Yes, I said so.  I said a vehicle arrived at that point.  I remember.  Do you want me to answer you?  Have you put a question to me?  

Q.
The question is, what did you mean when you said to the investigators that when they saw the man from the Red Cross, they scattered in all directions?  I'm interpreting this by meaning that they kind of panicked or they didn't want to get seen or they didn't want to get caught, or call it what you want.  But never in my wildest dreams or in my wildest interpretations that I could have thought that they were running towards the man from the Red Cross.  So what did you mean by that?  They scattered in all directions.  What did you mean by that? 

A.
When I said they scattered, it means they ran in various directions.  And I was able to return to the Trafipro compound.  Here I am referring to my case because there were other people.  I am not making anything up.  I'm telling you that people were killed below the sisters’ convent.  I did not say it was below the hospital because the Trafipro compound was not situated below the hospital.  I think you are not correctly recording my testimony.  

Q.
Now, you mention in your version that there was ‑‑ they were killed near the hospital.  In your deposition, that's what you said.  But so, you saw with your own eyes some of the soldiers who were on their way to rape some women, they saw the man from the Red Cross, and you saw some of them go towards the man from the Red Cross in order to get some money.  That's what you are saying? 

A.
But I told you that he angled his car in such a way as to block the way for the soldiers.  And that is indeed why the soldiers allowed us to leave.  The Red Cross agent was trying to save the young girl.  But if someone wants to come along with me, I will show the spot where we were at Trafipro, and I will also indicate the places where the various persons were killed, if you maintain that I am lying. 

Q.
Not only I maintain it, I am persuaded that you are lying, ma'am.  I would put my hand in a fire any day, any day, madam.  

I want – now you are saying he blocked ‑‑ you are crossing a road from Trafipro, and you say he blocked the passage so that no one could get through.  How do you block, how do you possibly put a car in the road to block someone from going into the woods?  All they had to do was to go left or right from the car.  That's impossible.  

A.
It was a small beaten earth track, and I think that even if he was white, he knew the Interahamwe and the soldiers.  He didn't do that without a reason.  He did it so as to approach the soldiers, to speak to them and intervene on behalf of the young girl.  He gave them money.  And I am referring to the young girl who was light in complexion.  And that is when we returned to the compound where we were.  There was a small track or path.  It was not a big tarred road.  It was a small beaten track, and it was close to the Trafipro compound. 

Q.
Again, you haven't answered my question.  My question was, how could he possibly block his car to prevent the soldiers from going around it or ‑‑ but, in any event, that person from the Red Cross, did you ever complain to that person at any time all the time were you at Trafipro?  Because he was the one who was providing the food and certain other basic ingredients.  So did you or anybody else ever point out to that gentleman or anybody from the Red Cross that you were being ‑‑ some of you were being killed, some of you were being raped?  

A.
But he did not come on a daily basis.  He came from time to time, and I think he was providing assistance to others.  We were not the only ones confined to a place.  Whenever he came he would take photographs.  The only person we complained to was the priest, and the priest could do nothing.  He could not face the Interahamwe or the soldiers to make them stop killing or doing what they wanted to.  Besides, the white man I spoke of was just pleading with the soldiers. 

Q.
Well, this happened, you say, on a second ‑‑ during the second incident.  Now, seeing the importance or the clout or the ‑‑ I know the word I am thinking about.  But seeing the importance that man had, when you saw the reaction of the soldiers and the Interahamwe when they saw him, again, I'm going to ask you the question:  Why didn't you complain to him or anybody else from the Red Cross that you were being raped and killed?  And even though he didn't come on a regular basis, why didn't you complain to him? 

A.
But that was of not much significance.  Complaining to him would not have stopped the Interahamwe soldiers from behaving the way they wanted to.  Indeed, even residents, members of the public, were armed with grenades.  And the soldiers decided to act in that way.  They were all over the place, Gitarama, Kabgayi.  That white man, all he could do was plead with the soldiers.  Besides, I think they must have been aware of what was going on because I do not think that the young girl was the only one who was being taken that way by the soldiers. 

Q.
Ma'am, you mentioned in your previous deposition you didn't even know what a grenade was at that time.  So all this military jargon, the military equipment, you didn't even know what that was, and you learned that following your, quote and unquote, liberation with the RPF.  

A.
No, it was not upon our liberation that I found out.  I was informed along the way.  When I went to Nyiransabimana, I saw a kind of calabash or gourd, and I was told it was a grenade.  When I got to Gitarama, once, when I was in a bush, I saw them searching in people's houses, and I saw that what they said, and I was told, that it was grenades.  It is not upon my liberation by the Inkotanyi in Kabgayi that I was made aware of that term.  I found out earlier even. 

Q.
Well, we all heard your testimony, ma'am.  When you heard of the president's death, you mentioned you heard that on the radio.  And if I recall, you also mentioned that you were saddened by the president's death.  And that's not true; you weren't saddened by the president's death.  You were happy.  As a Tutsi, as a member of the RPA, you felt oppressed.  That's the reason you joined back in 1990.  You kept this card, hoping that the RPF party some day would rule, or at least would be one of the parties for which you could ultimately vote for.  You weren't saddened when the president died; you were happy, right? 

A.
But I was sad because it was our president.  He was the head of state.  There was nothing I could do to protect or defend him.  Subsequently, I had to flee through the hills, but I was sad.  You cannot say I was not sad because you were not there to see whether I cried, for instance.  

Q.
When ‑‑ I could just imagine that.  I can just imagine that, madam.  You heard that on the radio, so I assume you had a radio in your house, or was that just something that was lent to you on April the 7th?  Did you have a radio in your possession, in your house? 

A.
Yes, we had a radio set at home, and the news of the president's death, President Habyarimana, that is, was announced on radio. 

Q.
I understand that, but you had that radio back, say, back in 1990?  You had a radio in your house for at least two‑three years, four years previously to April 1994, correct or incorrect? 

A.
But when we fled, we left our radio set and it was looted.  Besides, at a given moment before we fled, we ran out of batteries for the radio set to work.  And after his death, we were told not to listen to the radio.  No one was using their radios.  It was only some days later that we were able to reconnect the radio, to listen to it. 

Q.
I would like you ‑‑ I would appreciate it very much if you could listen to the questions.  It would save a whole lot of time, madam.  My question to you was, when, previously, previous to the death, before April the 7th, 1994, how long had you had that radio, that particular radio, that you heard the news on? 

A.
We bought it a long time before, and I do not remember how long we had had that radio set.  We bought it in Ruhango.  It had been bought at Ruhango.  And I must add that I do not know the make of the radio or the year it was bought. 

Q.
What about the serial number, do you have that?  If you had a radio, madam, you must have heard since 1990 the fact that the country was invaded by the RPF.  It had been invaded since 
October the 1st, 1990, and there had been some attacks on numerous occasions, and the country was threatened well before 1994.  So how come you are saying to the Court that you didn't even know about that, you didn't know about the infiltrations, you didn't know about the attacks from the RPF prior to 1994?  I mean, that surely was reported on the radio.  

A.
Well, I did not know.  The radio never said that the Inkotanyi were attacking the country.  At least, I did not hear that.  On the hills, they would say, when the parties were spreading their propaganda, it was said that the Tutsi were listening to the Inkotanyi radio, but we never listened to that radio station.  We were persecuted as parents, as children.  We were persecuted.  Everybody was pointing a finger at us.  

MR. PRESIDENT:
Mr. Macdonald, how long will you take?  

MR. MACDONALD:
I'm just about finished, Mr. President.  

MR. PRESIDENT:
We will take the break, then give Mr. Black a turn. 

MR. MACDONALD:
Pardon?  

MR. PRESIDENT:
Once you finish, then we’ll give Mr. Black a turn.  

MR. MACDONALD:
Yes, sir.  Yes, sir.  

BY MR. MACDONALD:
Q.
So the fact that you were persecuted prevented you from listening to the radio.  Is that what we should understand from your testimony? 

A.
We were not listening to the radio.  They were persecuting us a lot.  Even when we would take our meals, we would take them standing within our compound. 

Q.
And why is that? 

A.
Because we were persecuted during the multiparty era.  Downhill from our place, there were people talking.  There were vehicles passing to and fro.  Party members were making their propaganda, and they were saying that it was over for the Tutsis.  We did not know what that would lead to or what it signified, but I am merely reporting what I heard. 

Q.
Ma'am, you said in your testimony previously that as far as you are concerned, the Inkotanyi, even when you did know they were attacking, during their attacks, you said they never killed anybody.  This is what you told this Court.  I will read a short passage to you from ‑‑ and I am referring to ‑‑ referred to this earlier on from an individual called Abdul Ruzibiza.  It was given to me by my learned friend Mr. Black.  And this gentleman was like you.  He was recruited by the RPA back in 1990, and he says the following. 

MR. MACDONALD:
I'm not going to ask for the production of this, Mr. President.  I'm just going to put this to her.  

BY MR. MACDONALD:
Q.
At page 2, he says, "I wish to inform as many Rwandans as possible and also the international community must know what happened in Rwanda because, until today, whatever is known is known the way the RPF wanted it to be known and the way it releases the information.”  And specifically he says at page 9 ‑‑ 

MR. MACDONALD:
And I will close with this, Mr. President.  

BY MR. MACDONALD:
Q.
He was a member of the RPA, and he was one of these individuals attacking the country.  He says, "Attacking the enemy from behind his defence lines meant entering the heavily populated zones.  The RPF had no confidence in those inhabitants.  They would denounce our presence to the government forces, and in turn the government forces would come to attack us with good knowledge of our positions and the size of our force.  This meant that any of these inhabitants who tried to locate our positions had to die because we had no safe place where to keep them and we did not know how long we were going to stay in the area."  And he ends by saying.  "As a rule of thumb, each time we attacked by passing behind the enemy lines, we were given the instruction to kill all the inhabitants, without mercy."  So no distinctions between Tutsis and Hutus.  Was that ever brought to your knowledge, madam, the fact that the RPF were killing left and right to attain their purposes?  Was that at any time brought to your attention?
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THE WITNESS:

Well, even last week I told you that I was not aware of the RPF attack or of killings perpetrated by the RPF or fighting by the RPF.  The only time ‑‑ the only contact I had with the RPF was when they arrived to liberate me.  

MR. MACDONALD:

That's it.  I thank you for answering some of my questions, madam.  I think you've shed a very interesting light on this file.  Thank you. 

MR. TAMBADOU:

My Lord, just one comment before we break off.  It is evident that the only objective that my learned friend has achieved from reading from that excerpt is to introduce that piece of comment into the records without necessarily bringing witnesses to come and testify to that.  I mean, how can his last question be changed in any manner or form with reference to this document?  He could have asked the question without reading the document into the record. 

MR. PRESIDENT:

It is noted. 

MR. TAMBADOU:

As Your Lordship please.

MR. PRESIDENT:

The Court is adjourned.   

(Court recessed from 1102H to 1120H)
MR. PRESIDENT:

Yes, Mr. Black, it's your turn now.  

MR. BLACK:

Thank you, sir.
CROSS-EXAMINATION
BY MR. BLACK:

Q.
Ma'am, when you joined the Rwandan Patriotic Army, what kind of training did you receive after that? 

A.
I never joined the RPF.  I've told you that. 

Q.
I didn't say the RPF.  Listen carefully.  

You said you joined the Rwandan Patriotic Army, so I would like to know what training you received after you joined, your initial training.

A.
I told you that I took the RPF membership card.  That was on my way back from the farm.  There was no training given by the RPF in my village.

Q.
No, ma'am.  I said and you said that you joined the Rwandan Patriotic Army and you received the membership card.  So when you joined the Rwandan Patriotic Army, what training did you receive after you joined? 

MR. TAMBADOU:

My Lords, if he could ask her if she received any training, rather than what training she received.  It's clear she doesn't understand the answer ‑‑ the question. 

MR. BLACK:

I'm sure she understands the answer ‑‑ the question. 

BY MR. BLACK:

Q.
Ma'am, you joined an army; therefore, you must have received some training.  What training did you receive when you joined that army? 

MR. PRESIDENT:

She has already answered that, Mr. Black, apart from the card which ‑‑ 

MR. BLACK:

Well, I don't believe that, so...

BY MR. BLACK:

Q.
All right.  Did you receive ‑‑ you received training, didn't you; otherwise, why join the army? 

A.
No, they didn't give me any training.  Even the card I received I hid it very far in my house.  And even other persons who received the RPF membership card were killed.  But as far as I'm concerned, I hid my own very far in my house.

Q.
You joined the Rwandan Patriotic Army in September 1990, before the first attack by the RPA, and this officer, Abdul Ruzibiza, said that when he joined before 19‑ ‑‑ before that first attack and all those who joined the RPA before that first attack actually joined the Ugandan army, the National Resistance Army of Museveni, because there was no RPA at that point.  So did you actually receive an RPA card or a membership in the Ugandan army? 

A.
I only received the RPF card, and I've told you the circumstances under which I received that card.  You can see it yourself, that I'm not an able‑bodied person who can go through military training.  I've explained to you that I hid the card far in my house, and if I had shown this card, they would have killed me long ago.

Q.
Ma'am, stop referring to it as an RPF card.  You've told us it was an RPA card.  And the man that recruited you, you say came from a long distance.  He came from Uganda, didn't he?  Didn't he? 

A.
No, that person did not come from Uganda.  He is a Rwandan; he lived in Rwanda.  I've told you that I never joined the RPF.  You can see my physical condition and you know that I cannot undergo military training.  I cannot handle a weapon.

Q.
Would you please stop referring to the RPF.  We are talking about the RPA, which you said you were a member of and received a card from, so stop mentioning the RPF.  I don't care about the RPF.  You joined the military wing, and you must have received some training as a spy because that was your role in the war, wasn't it?  Your role in the ‑‑

A.
No.  Maybe I misspoke.  It was a membership card of the RPF, not a membership card ‑‑ not a military service card.  I don't even know where this army of the ‑‑ where the Rwandan Patriotic Army was.

Q.
Ma'am, it says in your statement you are a member of the RPA; you admitted all through today and on Thursday that you were a member of the RPA.  That is what we are talking about and you admitted that.  Are you going to lie now and say you weren't?  

MR. BLACK:

And what is my friend rising for?  

MR. TAMBADOU:

My learned friend has said that the ‑‑ 

THE WITNESS:

I spoke ‑‑ I referred to the RPF as an organisation or a political party.  I never spoke about the army or the military wing of the RPF.  I told you that I saw RPF soldiers the very first time when I was in Kabgayi.  I never went to Uganda to see them.  If I were in Uganda to meet them, I would not be alive. 

MR. PRESIDENT:

Yes, Mr. Tambadou?
MR. TAMBADOU:

Yes, my Lord.  I only wish to point out that -- I think it was Counsel MacDonald who did raise this issue earlier on.  And I had to advise and clarify that that was the witness's understanding of the political party, whether it was RPA or RPF, but there was confusion ‑‑ 

MR. PRESIDENT:

(Overlapping microphones)  
So we know the condition of the witness's mindset ‑‑ 

MR. TAMBADOU:

As Your Lordship please. 

MR. PRESIDENT:

Yes, Mr. Black? 

MR. BLACK:

No, that's not what's going on her.  In her statement she said that she had been a member of the RPA from 1990 to 1994.  She admitted that to Mr. MacDonald when he questioned her that she was a member of the RPA military wing.  He referred to the military wing all throughout his cross‑examination.  She admitted that.  Now somebody has gotten to her and she's been told to stay away from that. 

BY MR. BLACK:

Q.
Now, ma'am, your statement said RPA, you were an RPA soldier.  

A.
No.  I clearly referred to the membership card of the RPF, not a military service card.  I've never been a soldier.  I was an old woman.  I never left my village, so ‑‑ and these people never organised a rally in the village.  

MR. BÂ:

Mr. President, you can go through the transcripts of Thursday, and she has said it clearly and constantly that she took a membership card of the RPF. 

MR. PRESIDENT:

We have noted that, Mr. Bâ.  

Yes, Mr. Black. 

MR. BLACK:

No.  And if my friends keep giving her answers again, I'm going to complain to the bar association.  This is outrageous.  They are feeding their witnesses contrary evidence and making them lie.  I've never seen such unethical behaviour in my whole life.

BY MR. BLACK:

Q.
You said, ma'am, in your testimony on Thursday in question (sic) to Mr. MacDonald, the question was ‑‑ line 37 page 5 by Ann Burum:  "In your statement ‑‑ again, I'm referring to the statement of April 9, 1999 ‑‑ it says at page 2, ma'am, paragraph 13, there was a question asked of you whether or not you were a member of a social or political organisation, and it says, ‘RPA from 1990 to 1994.’  What is it, that RPA?"  

"Answer:  I was a member of that party.  That was an Inkotanyi party which I joined a long time ago without really understanding what it meant.  Today I'm no longer a member of that party.  I'm an ordinary farmer using my hoe."  

"Question:  Well, ‘RPA’ stands for ‘Rwandan’” ‑‑ 

A.
(No translation)
Q.
Just a minute.  Just a minute.  

"’RPA’ stands for ‘Rwandan Patriotic Army’ which is a military wing of the RPF.  Are we talking about the same thing?"

"Answer:  Yes."  

So let's go on on that basis because that's what you said.  When you joined ‑‑ 

A.
(Not translation)
Q.
Just a minute.  When you joined the Rwandan Patriotic Army in 1990, Mr. Ruzibiza says that you actually joined the National Rwandan ‑‑ the NRA, the Ugandan army.  And, therefore, you committed an act of treason, didn't you?  

MR. TAMBADOU:

My Lord?  
MR. PRESIDENT:

Yes, Mr. Tambadou?  

MR. TAMBADOU:

Before the witness answers, again, I think my learned friend has been unfaithful in the reading of the transcripts.  He only stopped at "yes," and then there is a follow‑up answer, and he didn't say anything on the follow‑up answer. 

MR. BLACK:

It doesn't change anything.  It doesn't change anything.  I can read the whole thing and it changes nothing. 

MR. PRESIDENT:

Let him read that then. 

MR. BLACK:

I will read it with my own inflection.  It doesn't change.  It is wasting time.  

"Answer:  Yes.  In the beginning I was a member of that organisation but I'm no longer a member today.  They used to say there was a party and I thought that party was important to me and that it would save me or be of use to me because I had been oppressed for a very long time."  It changes nothing.  She joined the Rwandan Patriotic Army. 

MR. TAMBADOU:

My Lord, what it changes is the word "party."  It was her understanding that it was a political party.  

MR. BLACK:

No, that's because Mr. MacDonald used that word. 

MR. PRESIDENT:

(Microphone not activated)

THE ENGLISH INTERPRETER:

Your Honour's microphone, please.

MR. PRESIDENT:

We are closely following the evidence and we know the condition of the witness. 

MR. BLACK:

What condition of the witness?  

MR. PRESIDENT:

The condition of the witness is that she joined this party at the age of 47. 

MR. BLACK:

All right, sir.  

MR. PRESIDENT:

That's it.
BY MR. BLACK:

Q.
All right.  So when you joined that army, Mr. Ruzibiza says that every person that joined before the first invasion of October joined the NRA, the Ugandan army.  So I put it to you:  You committed an act of treason against the Rwandan government by doing that, right? 

A.
I denied being a member of the Rwandan Patriotic Army.  I never joined the RPA; I've never been to Uganda.  But I agreed that I took the membership card of the RPF and that I hid it very far in my house.  I've never been ‑‑ I've never done any military service.

Q.
Mr. Ruzibiza says that people like you that joined their organisation or what became the RPA ‑‑ 

A.
(Not translated)
Q.
Ma'am, would you just please listen.  

When you joined the RPA ‑‑ 

A.
(Not translated)
Q.
When you joined the Rwandan Patriotic Army, all those people, like you, inside the country were used for various purposes, including assassinations, poisonings, gathering intelligence, sowing disinformation against the government.  So what was your role in the Gitarama region?  Were you involved in assassinations?  Were you involved in gathering intelligence?  What was your role? 

A.
I have told you that since I took that card, I hid it very far in my house, because I was told that if I'm seen with that card that I'm going to be ‑‑ that they were going to round me up and they were going to kill me.  Even my husband used to tell me that if they see this card with me, they will kill me immediately. 

Q.
That is because you were working as an enemy agent, isn't that right, along with your husband?  That is why you hid that card and that is why you were warned to hide it because you would have been ‑‑

A.
Which enemy are you referring to, Counsel?  I did not work for the enemy.  I was afraid of being killed because of that card.  And since I didn't want no one to be killed, I buried the card far away. 

Q.
What was your code name?  What code name was given to you?  Yeah, you looked at me then, didn't you, because you had one?  What was your code name? 

A.
I have never worked on behalf of the army you referred to.  I had not seen this army before the arrival in Kabgayi.  That is what I've been telling you since the beginning:  I never worked for this army.

Q.
Well, Mr. Ruzibiza and another officer, Cristophe Hakizabera, and other RPF officers who have released information in the last couple of years, said that every member of the RPA inside the country had a code name.  

MR. PRESIDENT:

So in that book does her name appear?  

MR. BLACK:

Well, they don't release all the code names, sir.  I mean, it is not a listing of all the RPA contacts inside the country.  It would be thousands, maybe hundreds of thousands. 

BY MR. BLACK:

Q.
So, do you remember your code name? 

A.
I am reiterating, I was never in touch with that army.  I told you I took that card when I was on my way back from my fields, and once I took it, I hid it very deep in my house.  People were mobilising for recruitment to the CDR, MRND.  They were hoisting the flags of those parties, but nobody came to recruit for the RPF or for the Rwandan Patriotic Army except, subsequently, when they arrived in Kabgayi.

Q.
They said ‑‑ he also says that all members belonged to cells, some many cells unknown to other cells, but you operated in cells.  So, who were the other members of your cell?  Was it your husband and your sons who worked with you? 

A.
No.  There were no other RPF members within my village.  I told you, on my way back from my field I took the card.  There were three of us who took those party cards, two of whom are dead; I'm the only survivor.  No one else took an RPF card.  I told you there was talk of the MRND, the CDR in my village; there was recruitment into those parties but no recruitments into the RPF in my village. 

Q.
He also said that those Tutsis who joined the RPA who lived inside Rwanda were kept on probation more or less for a couple of years before they could be trusted and then they were activated after that.  So I assume that since you joined ‑‑ you stayed a member until 1994, that you had become a trusted member and were activated.  So could you tell us what your mission was and what orders you received from your commanding officers or your other contacts in your area? 

A.
Right from the start, I have told you that no one was recruiting for the RPF and no one ever held an RPF rally.  I never attended any RPF rally, nor did I ever see anybody sensitising or holding a rally on behalf of the RPF.

Q.
No, they didn't do it that way.  They did it clandestinely and they set up an entire clandestine network across the country of which you were a part.  So could you tell me what your mission was specifically?  

MR. PRESIDENT:

Mr. Black, she has denied her role of ‑‑ whatever the position she is.  She says she was only a cardholder.  That is all.  So if you have any further questions, you can put to her.  

BY MR. BLACK:

Q.
Well, I suggest to you, ma'am, that you had contacts in your area or other cells of the RPA, the RPF, whatever you want to call it, and that you were activated and that you had a mission.  And I put it you your mission was gathering intelligence, disguising yourself as a Hutu and wandering around the country and reporting military positions, positions of roadblocks, movements of civilians, and so on.  Isn't that what your role was in April of 1994?  That was your role, wasn't it? 

A.
I repeat, when I took the membership card, it was of no use to me at any point.  I further told you that no one ever came to my area to hold a rally, to publicise the RPF.  I told you that there was propaganda being done on behalf of other parties, but no meeting was ever held for the RPF, at least as far as my village is concerned.

Q.
Ma'am, you've testified here that there were atrocities committed in Gitarama region starting April 8 and following.  Yet every other Prosecution witness that has come here that has testified in that area said that no such things started occurring until April 21st or 22nd.  So you couldn't have fled your home on April 8th or a week after because of burnings because they weren't taking place, ma'am.  The reason I suggest to you that you left your house on the 8th with your husband was to go on a mission to scout the area for RPF forces who were going to enter the area later; isn't that right? 

A.
We had no RPF mission; all I had was the RPF card.  And it was said that if I was not careful this card would get me killed.  As for the start of the hostilities or the torching in my village, I do not remember the exact date that the torchings began. 

MR. PRESIDENT:

I think, Mr. Black, what she said was that neighbouring villages’ houses were setting on fire, and, because of that, she expected some ‑‑ 

MR. BLACK:

That's right.  But all the other Prosecution witnesses say that in that entire region there were no such acts until the 21st and 22nd. 

MR. PRESIDENT:

She also says that they didn't start on that day but the neighbouring villages were disturbed; that is why she left. 

MR. BLACK, 

Well, the other Prosecution witnesses, testifying about the entire area, say no, it didn't happen until the 21st, 22nd. 

MR. TAMBADOU:

My Lord, I only wish to point out that the witnesses that we bring here testify on events that happened in their localities, and my learned friend hasn't been to where this witness lives, doesn't know the geographic ‑‑ I mean, the geography of this area.  I mean, there are villages that are even inaccessible to cars.  She doesn't know all the ‑‑ and I wouldn't go into all ‑‑ but she is testifying as to what happened in her vicinity.  

MR. BLACK:

Well, we have had witnesses, FAV, who traveled all over the country with the 157th battalion, who said that.  GFR, GFT ‑‑ I mean, GFS and GFR and GFT all say the same thing, and they all lived in different areas.  

MR. TAMBADOU:

They are testifying on Butare, My Lord, what happened in Butare, and this is Gitarama.  So those are different issues that my learned friend is confusing.  As My Lordship please. 

BY MR. BLACK:

Q.
Ma'am, when the plane was shot down, you had a radio.  When the president was murdered you had a radio.  Did you have a radio from the RPA? 

A.
No.  I did not learn of it the same day.  I heard it the following day, the day after the president died.

Q.
All right.  But you had a radio ‑‑ 

A.
It was at 12:45 when I heard the news. 

Q.
Did you have another radio able to communicate and receive messages from the RPA and RPF in which you would have heard a message ‑‑ the night the plane went down, the RPF put out a message saying "the target was hit."  Did you receive that message? 

A.
I knew nothing about it.  How would I have known that the president would die?  I heard it on the 1245 news broadcast that the plane, the president's plane, had fallen. 

Q.
I put it to you, you would have known about it because all the active RPA/RPF units were alerted, and the former head of RPF intelligence, Jean Pierre Mugabe, says the RPF shot down that plane, and Abdul Ruzibiza said the same thing, and everybody was on standby for that shoot‑down to commence the offensive.  So you must have received a message alerting you.  Did you receive such a message? 

A.
No.  I knew nothing.  I told you I had no other contact with the RPF except for the time when I took the RPF card.  When that RPF operative handed the card to me, well, I never saw him again thereafter.  There was no rally for me to attend, no RPF rally.  All I did was keep the card within my house, and I hid it very well.

Q.
Mr. Abdul Ruzibiza also says ‑‑ against your denial that the RPF killed anybody, he says ‑‑ not only does he and Christophe Hakizabera and Jean Pierre Mugage, all RPF people, state that they murdered the president and the army chief of staff on that plane, they also say ‑‑ he says that the RPA killed people of all ethnic groups, and its aim was to provoke mass chaos through which it could paralyze the government and seek power, so ‑‑ 

MR. BÂ:

Objection, Mr. President.  I think he is going overboard with this line of questioning.  There is a time for the Prosecutor to present his case and there will be a time for the Defence to present its case.  Let him wait for the right time to bring in these people or let him sum it all up with Abdul, Mugabe.  Take 20 minutes for you to make that proposition and then have done with it. 

MR. BLACK:

Okay.  I could do that but I'm allowed to bring out what may be favourable to my client, which is that his government is not responsible for a lot of the killings attributed to them.  It was done by the RPA, and we have evidence ‑‑ she is an RPA soldier; I can cross‑examine her on what the RPA/RPF did. 

MR. PRESIDENT:

Well, Mr. Black, the person who has written this, if he is available, you call him.  There is no point in just giving to this person, this witness, what somebody else has written about the war.  There may be enough books in the library about the war.‑ 

MR. BLACK:

Well, I'm entitled to cross‑examine her on this.  She's an RPA soldier.  I have her here.  I've got RPA soldiers saying she's lying, and I'm entitled to cross‑examine her on that.  And I'm also entitled to bring out any favourable point I can get from her which would affect your view of my client, which is that they didn't commit these crimes; they did.  
MR. TAMBADOU:

My Lord, if I may ‑‑

MR. BLACK:

That is my defence.  We didn't do it; they did it.  That's the whole defence. 

MR. PRESIDENT:

Yeah.  But I think you must give evidence by the person where they are inquiring into bringing down the plane.  He has written that ‑‑ he has said that there is an admission by him.  From what you read, I ‑‑ 

MR. BLACK:

That is right.  He even names the members of the ‑‑

MR. PRESIDENT:

We are not looking into that aspect now. 

MR. BLACK:

Well, we are, because that was the first massacre of the war and they committed it.  And she says no, the RPF killed nobody, and that was my point, that they did. 

MR. TAMBADOU:

My Lord ‑‑

MR. PRESIDENT:

What she says is to her knowledge.  She is a village woman. 

MR. BLACK:

Well, I can put the suggestions to her, and if she denies them, okay; I have to bring Ruzibiza. 

MR. PRESIDENT:

Yes. 

MR. BLACK:

And we will, and Christophe Hakizabera and, hopefully, Mugabe too, and Boutros‑Ghali, who says not only ‑‑ 

BY MR. BLACK:

Q.
Ma'am, not only did the RPF do it, but the CIA was involved.  Did you know that?  Did you hear about that from your superiors, that the CIA helped shoot down that plane?  Because Boutros‑Ghali says so.

MR. PRESIDENT:

And he also says that the Belgians did it. 

MR. BLACK:

And the Belgians, too, and Uganda.  

BY MR. BLACK:

Q.
You don't know anything about the shoot‑down of the plane, that the RPF killed all those people, two Hutu presidents, the army chief of staff?  You don't know anything about the RPF doing that? 

A.
How do you expect me to know that, Counsel?  How do you expect me to know if the plane was brought down because of all these people?  I do not know who shot at that plane.  I do not know who brought down that plane.  I do not know why you insist on putting such questions to me, Counsel. 

Q.
Because you are a member of that organisation who shot down the plane.  That is why I'm asking you.  You are here.  I'm entitled to ask you.  I think you might know.  Mr. Ruzibiza also says that, and Christophe Hakizabera is another officer who testified, and sent a letter to the UN to this effect a few years ago that the Inkotanyi, the RPF killed massively and collected the corpses and buried them in common graves and then said they were all Tutsis ‑‑ that they killed Hutus and then said that they were all Tutsis.  Do you know anything about that? 

A.
I know nothing about it, Counsel.  I never saw the Inkotanyi kill.  I do not know this Ruzibiza you are talking about.  I never saw people being killed by the Inkotanyi.  I clearly told you that I saw the Inkotanyi when they came to liberate us at Kabgayi.  I never saw Inkotanyi prior to that.

Q.
He says, as Mr. MacDonald pointed out, that in all their attacks they were told to kill everybody without mercy, in every place.  And in Alison Des Forges's book ‑‑ 

MR. BLACK:

And by the way, Mr. President, Alison Des Forges is “the” Prosecution witness on the genocide, so‑called, and testified extensively for a couple of months in the Military I trial.  She is their main expert on this whole thing.  

BY MR. BLACK:

Q.
Ma'am, she testified that she interviewed RPF officers who told her that the RPF, every village they entered, they killed everybody in every village they entered ‑‑ Tutsi and Hutu alike ‑‑ to clear the area.  Do you deny that? 

A.
I know nothing about it, Counsel.  I told you the first time I saw the Inkotanyi was when they came to Kabgayi.  If people have come to testify before this Tribunal to say they saw Inkotanyi kill, that is their business.  I told you what I saw.  I cannot tell you what I did not see.  

MR. TAMBADOU:

My Lord, I am ‑‑ I agree entirely with what my learned senior had raised earlier on, that he has a right to put his case to this witness but he is going overboard.  So far every question that he has asked this witness is in relation to what has been said by these people. 

MR. PRESIDENT:

Right.  And this Court is aware that she was only living in this place and going to a particular place during the disturbances.  That's all. 

MR. TAMBADOU:

And besides, My Lord, if we are to go by their statements that the RPF cleared Hutu and Tutsi and cleared every village, there wouldn't have been any survivors except the invaders themselves.  I mean, that proposition does not hold water in any form whatsoever. 
MR. PRESIDENT:

This is after they went ‑‑ after the RPF took over.  So we are not looking into all those.  

Yes, Counsel. 

MR. BLACK:

No, that is not after the RPF took over.  That is as they invade, as they proceed through the country.  Alison Des Forges says the RPF told her every village they entered they killed everybody:  Hutus, because they didn't like Hutus; every Tutsi, because they considered any Tutsi in the country to collaborate with the Hutus.  Let's get her facts straight.  And Professor Reyntjens says the same thing.

MR. PRESIDENT:

So you are relying on this person's evidence and at the same time attacking her.  

MR. BLACK:

Attacking whom?  I'm not attacking ‑‑

MR. PRESIDENT:

This other name that you mentioned.  

MR. BLACK:

Alison Des Forges says some bad things for us and some good things for us, and I'm entitled to rely on the good things. 

MR. PRESIDENT:

Yes, Mr. Bâ.  

MR. BÂ:

Mr. President, Mr. Black has confided in me that he has a hundred or so witnesses to call.  Well, then, he should just wait for the Defence's case to begin so that he can call these witnesses and we will have a chance to cross‑examine Mugabe and the others.  But he cannot just play to the gallery by trying to make the ‑‑ to make the transcript read such things. 

MR. PRESIDENT:

Yes, Mr. ‑‑ 

MR. BÂ:

It has no sense. 

MR. PRESIDENT:

I think you should not surreptitiously introduce irrelevant evidence into the Court.  If you have your witnesses, you bring them.  

MR. BLACK:

I will, but I'm required to put it to this person.  I'm required to put it to her, and it's not irrelevant because our whole defence is that most or many of the atrocities attributed to these gentlemen here were committed by the RPF, that the reaction ‑‑ the population which reacted to those attacks was not directed by the government or the army; it reacted spontaneously and killed Tutsis in reaction to that.  And we are entitled to put that theory forward and develop that theory.

MR. PRESIDENT:

Yes, you can put the theory, but then you can't put what these people say about other things.  You must confine the cross‑examination with regard to the evidence that this witness has given.  So if you have a theory, you can place it through your witnesses. 

MR. BLACK:

Well, I disagree with that, Mr. President, respectfully, because she is an admitted RPA soldier ‑‑ 

MR. PRESIDENT:

Not admitted. 

MR. BLACK:

Well, yes, she was.  She said so right here.  She now denies it, but that's only ‑‑ 

MR. PRESIDENT:

But then she explains that she is only a cardholder. 

MR. BLACK:

That is because somebody got to her over the weekend and told her to back off on that.  

MR. PRESIDENT:

Well, if the ‑‑ 

MR. BLACK:

She looked at me.  She knows that. 

MR. PRESIDENT:

(Overlapping microphones) ... the RPA selected these people with this state of intelligence, I don't know.  

MR. BLACK:

Well, exactly.  Why aren't all these people ‑‑ why isn't she being charged?  All right.  I will go on.  

BY MR. BLACK:

Q.
Now, ma'am, you referred to ‑‑ you said you saw at roadblocks people being killed by hoes, garden implements like a hoe.  And Mr. Ruzibiza says that one of the favourite devices of the RPF, when they entered areas and encountered resistance, was, quote, through the smashing of the head with an old hoe.  And he refers to that several times in the statement, that when they captured Hutus and wanted to deal with them, among torturing them in some other horrible ways, they used a hoe, and that was an RPF technique; isn't that right?  That wasn't done by the Interahamwe or the RPF; that was done by your forces, and you are projecting that onto the others.

A.
No, it is not true.  I told you the only time I saw the RPF ‑‑ RPA forces was when these forces came to liberate me in Kabgayi.  I did see the soldiers and the Interahamwe whenever they came to kill people.  I saw the Interahamwe and soldiers who were wearing camouflage uniform.  They wore trousers and jackets in this ‑‑ in this print.

Q.
And, ma'am, the reason that they ‑‑ and Professor Reyntjens, also a Prosecution expert, or was until he refused to cooperate with them anymore because they didn't charge the RPF ‑‑ was also evidence from the RPF that they used hoes to kill Hutus.  And the reason they did that was symbolic, ma'am, was because they wanted to reinforce or reestablish the idea that the Hutus were serfs, as before the revolution, serfs for the aristocratic Tutsis, and they reminded them of what they thought their true status should be, by killing them with hoes.  That's why the RPF did that.  So what you are saying about the government force or the Interahamwe doing that is a lie, isn't it? 

A.
I never saw them kill.  They liberated us from Kabgayi.  And on our way from Kabgayi, never did I see a body or somebody being killed by the RPF.  From Kabgayi I went to Byimana, but along the way I saw no bodies of persons killed by the RPF, nor did I see roadblocks set up by the RPF to kill people.  I told you the RPF soldiers in Kabgayi liberated me and that I fled following my liberation.  And besides, I was not alone; I was with other people.

Q.
Well, Mr. Ruzibiza says also that the RPF didn't liberate anybody; he says that's a complete lie by the RPF to justify their invasion of the country.  He said in fact they didn't liberate anybody, and they could have.  That's another lie, isn't it?  

A.
I do not know if the RPF is lying.  The RPF liberated us from Kabgayi.  We were living in trying circumstances.  We were at the mercy of our killers.  And I therefore believe the RPF liberated us from Kabgayi.  I do not know if Ruzibiza was an eyewitness to the events, to all the events.  All I know is that the RPF liberated me, together with many other people, and that they liberated us from Kabgayi. 

Q.
He says he was an eyewitness and was involved in every phase of the war, and that one of the strategies of the RPF was to set a trap to the government by attributing all the crimes the RPF committed to the government to get international support, and that everything else they said is a lie since then and since.  What do you say about that? 

A.
I have no comments to make on what Ruzibiza said.  I don't know Ruzibiza.  The Inkotanyi liberated me.  They did not kill any people who were with me.  When we left Kabgayi we met other persons, Hutus as well as Tutsis, and the Inkotanyi never made a distinction between Hutus and Tutsis.  They never discriminated.  They allowed the Hutus as well as Tutsis to flee.  And they liberated the Tutsis as well as the Hutus and took them to areas, peaceful areas, or more secure areas. 

Q.
Well, if you say the RPF, of which you were a member, liberated you ‑‑ I mean, you are a member of the RPF.  How did ‑‑ I don't know how they could liberate you since you are one of them.  But this fantasy of TRAFIPRO you've invented, if the RPF liberated you, so‑called, why did you flee?  Why didn't you stay with them? 

A.
The RPF liberated me, and I was not alone; I was with several other persons.  I did not remain with the RPF troops.  I don't know them.  I fled, together with several other persons.  We left Kabgayi, and with the assistance of the RPF, we went to other areas.  The RPF told us areas that we could go to, and together with other ‑‑ I went there with other persons, including Hutus, and I never saw the RPF killing Hutus.  The RPF met Hutus and assisted them to flee.  I never saw the RPF kill people.  I have no comment to make on what Ruzibiza said.

Q.
All right.  Let's go back to these alleged rapes you say were inflicted on you.  You say there were ‑‑ there's something very curious we've all noted about rape victims in this trial.  You are the second one to testify so far.  You say on ‑‑ I guess it's the ‑‑ I got the English statement ‑‑ version ‑‑ it's the second ‑‑ the second page, third paragraph.  You say ‑‑

MR. PRESIDENT:

What is the page?  

MR. BLACK:

I'm sorry.  Page K0107623.  

BY MR. BLACK:

Q.
You say, "The first time I was taken to the forest was approximately a week after my arrival at TRAFIPRO.  I was among six women who were taken."  And then you say in the very bottom paragraph, "The third time that I was taken, I was among six women, and we were raped by ‑‑ or, taken by four soldiers and two Interahamwe," which again makes six.  Now, there is another witness, named DBA, who also testified that she was raped.  She says she was raped twice or three times.  The first time she said she was raped by six Interahamwe; the second time she said she was raped by six soldiers ‑‑ well, taken by six soldiers and raped by four.  But, there again, six, the number six, comes up.  

We find that rather curious, ma'am.  Do you know why the number six keeps coming up?  When they taught you this story to tell here and they tried to get you to memorise it, did they tell you why they chose the number six?  It's just easier to remember, or ‑‑ what's the reason? 

A.
I don't know the other witness you are referring to.  Each one is recounting what she has experienced.  You are referring to the ‑‑ to the figure six.  That witness recounted what she experienced and so.  And I'm also ‑‑ I went through my own experience, and that is what I'm recounting.

Q.
So the people that gave you the story you've brought to court the last few days didn't tell you why they give all the rape victims a number six to use?  It's just easier for them when they give these witnesses their stories that six is an easy number to remember for everybody?  Is that why?

A.
Nobody asked me to repeat this figure six.  I told you what happened to me in that bush where I was taken.  If the other witness referred to it, then it is because that is what she experienced.  I never met that witness, and I don't know if she was there with me.  We did not agree to come and talk about six.

MR. BLACK:

Also, just for the President's information, this also occurred in the ICTY.  The University of Belgrade did a study that found that most of the witnesses use the same numbers; in talking about atrocities in various villages, the same numbers kept coming up.  

BY MR. BLACK:

Q.
You say that you met at one roadblock a gendarme major, a woman, right?
MR. TAMBADOU:

My Lord, before my learned friend proceeds on this basis, he did ask us to give an undertaking that that incident will not be pursued because he was concerned about that and we did give the undertaking.  Now, if he is going to cross‑examine on this incident and evidence is adduced which aggravates the situation, then I can no longer assure my learned friend that we won't pursue those areas, because we had an agreement that we wouldn't ‑‑ 

THE ENGLISH INTERPRETER:

Your Honour's microphone, please. 

MR. PRESIDENT:

But if that's a risk that he is willing to take, then that's a risk that he is willing to take. 

MR. TAMBADOU:

But I want to make it clear that if that happens then we can no longer hold on to the assurance that we had given earlier on.  As Your Lordship please. 

MR. BLACK:

She has testified to my friend and in-chief that she met this major, and I'm just going into ‑‑ I'm not going very far with this, just ‑‑

MR. PRESIDENT:

Yeah.

BY MR. BLACK:

Q.
You say you met a gendarme major, a woman, at a roadblock? 

A.
I said that.

Q.
And you gave her name as Nyiransabimana ‑‑ if I can read my own writing ‑‑ Nyiransabimana.  That's the name you gave; is that right? 

A.
That is correct, yes.  She was called Anne Marie Nyiransabimana. 

Q.
Well, you are wrong about that, because there was only one Anne Marie, a major in the gendarmes by the name of Anne Marie.  Her last name was Nyirhizikimana (phonetic), and she was a nurse, and she was a nurse at the hospital of Kabgayi taking care of the wounded.  Did you know that?  So she couldn't have been at a roadblock.  And she lived in Shyogwe with her superior who was also a major in the gendarme, named Kankwanzi, who was a Tutsi.  So I don't know how she could be roughing up Tutsis at a roadblock when she lived with a Tutsi at a hospital where she was a nurse.  So who told you to give this false story about a nurse being at a roadblock? 

A.
But don't tell me it's a lie.  Nobody told me this.  I found her at the roadblock.  And there were three ‑‑ there were three soldiers, including a woman, Nyiransabimana.  The major was a short woman, and I heard people say that she was called Major Nyiransabimana.  Those people stopped me at the roadblock.

Q.
You say you were roughed up at a couple of roadblocks, and then when they discovered you were Hutu you flashed your Hutu card and they left you alone.  But that doesn't make any sense, ma'am.  If they are checking ID cards they would check that first; then if you weren't Hutu, they'd rough you up.  They wouldn't rough you up, then check your ID card.  That's another invention of yours, isn't it? 

A.
It is true that I was not killed, but I was beaten up.  I was being told that I was ‑‑ I was a crossbreed of Hutu and Tutsi parentage.  Maybe that was not properly recorded in my written statement, but they would examine the nails ‑‑ they would examine my fingernails and the tendons of the arm, and they would conclude I'm a crossbreed, that one of my parents was a Hutu and the other Tutsi.

Q.
No.  We heard that story on Thursday; that people would check out ‑‑ touch your body and touch different parts of your body to see what kind of ethnic origin you came from was laughable.  You make it sound like they were checking out a horse.  And do you know why you do that?  Because the RPF wants the whole world to think that the Hutus are savages and that they checked you out like animals.  Nobody would believe, in a moment, that people would try and find out your ethic identity by checking your tendons or your fingernails or any other part of your body, ma'am.  That's just complete defamation.  That is why you have thrown that in there, because you are still acting for the RPF, even now in this courtroom, aren't you? 

A.
But I've told you that it happened the way I have just recounted.  They would examine your hamstring and your fingernails.  But to tell me that I'm an RPF agent, well, I would say that I've never been an RPF agent.  If I didn't die at any of those roadblocks, it's because I had my identity card.  That is what I have to say on this issue.

Q.
That's right.  You were portraying yourself as a Hutu.  You had false documents; you were walking around the entire area, going through barricade through barricade through barricade, monitoring the barricades, as you've told us, with false documents, and many of your comrades also had false documents.  And there were many infiltrators, like you, carrying Hutu identity cards to create chaos behind the lines; isn't that right? 

A.
No, I did not have false documents.  I've told you that I had an identity card.  Besides I don't think you were the counsel who cross‑examined me when I was answering this question.  I don't know ‑‑ I cannot write, and nobody forged this document for me.  It is a document that was issued to me, pursuant to the rules.  If you said I had a false document, then tell me who was this person who gave me this ‑‑ who gave me the document, whether it was the bourgmestre or the communal administration.

Q.
Sorry.  Now, ma'am, you also in your fantastic story throw in the visit by Prime Minister Kambanda, which never took place, in order to link these alleged killings by Interahamwe soldiers at TRAFIPRO, which never took place, to the government; isn't that right?  Because, again, you are an RPF agent here.

A.
But I have told you that Kambanda was there and, in front of him, there were gendarmes.  I was there; I was an eyewitness to the event.  What am I supposed to do to convince you about his visit to that place?  I don't know what I'm supposed to do to convince you. 

Q.
You also say he came with a Catholic bishop.  And your role here, as the RPF, has always had the intention of defaming the Catholic Church as well.  You were trying to link the Catholic Church bishop to these massacres, these alleged massacres, isn't that right, and to cover up the fact, to justify the fact, that the RPF murdered three bishops and one archbishop in that area in June and several other priests who were lined up against the wall and shot?  You are trying to justify that action, aren't you? 

A.
I'm a Christian and I'm not here to unfairly accuse people.  If the bishop was present during Kambanda's visit, well, I did not pay attention to the bishop.  It was said that Kambanda was there, and I saw that there were gendarmes, and people applauded.  If the bishop was there and he was killed subsequently, as you claim, well, I don't know about that.  I was even sick and I was in a makeshift shelter in plastic, and I didn't pay attention to all those.  With regard to Kambanda, I saw him at that place.  I did not speak about the bishop.  If I spoke about the bishop, tell me at what point in time I referred to the bishop.  I don't believe that I said that Kambanda came with the bishop during my testimony last week.

Q.
Well, another RPF officer, ma'am, I put it to you, suggests that the reason the RPF killed many Catholic priests and bishops was because the Catholic clergy remembered and had a history of what it was like before the revolution when the Hutus were all serfs under the Tutsis and treated horribly, and that the RPF wanted to wipe out that history.  That's why they killed the Catholic clergy, as many as they could reach; isn't that right?  And you felt the same way, didn't you? 

A.
No.  I was not an eyewitness to those events that you are recounting.  I have told you that I was liberated from Kabgayi, together with several other persons, and if you are saying that an RPF officer gave this testimony, then ask him to explain.  Personally, I never saw the RPF kill people.  Besides, the RPF helped even the Hutus that you are referring to to escape.  I'm not the only person who was evacuated by the RPF. 

Q.
Well, all the experts who have testified here don't agree with that, ma'am.  They say that all Hutus were killed by the RPF on sight.  

Now, you are saying that the first attack, what you called a major attack, occurred when, at TRAFIPRO? 

A.
I cannot remember the date, but the first attack took place before Kambanda's visit, and the other one, the second one, took place after Kambanda's visit.  And that was the attack that was large scale, and we were liberated on the same occasion by the RPF.  But before that liberation, the attackers had killed some of the refugees, as I've already said. 

Q.
And when did this second, what you called second attack, when did that happen? 

A.
I cannot remember the exact date, but I've told you that it took place after the departure of Kambanda.  Before his visit there was another attack during which men, women, young girls were killed.  The second attack took place after Kambanda's visit, but I cannot recall the exact date of that attack.

Q.
I thought you told Mr. MacDonald that the first attack was after Kambanda's visit, but anyway.  This second attack after Kambanda's visit, when exactly after Kambanda's visit?  That day, a day later, or what? 

A.
The attack took place during the whole night.  The attackers killed throughout the night, and the following morning they entered the complex, and they killed and took money from the refugees.  And when they heard that the Inkotanyi were coming, they left.  Those who went to fetch water to prepare porridge were killed by those attackers.  There were a lot of Interahamwe.  There were so many, and there were soldiers, as well, who had surrounded the compound. 

Q.
Ma'am, just answer that question.  I don't need the whole story over and over again.  Was that attack the same night ‑‑ the night of the day that Kambanda had come?  Because that is what you told Mr. MacDonald, by the way.

A.
He left that place in the morning around 10 a.m. and the attack took place in the night.  I can't remember if it was the following night or the night after that.  But I've given you the approximate time he left.  He left in the morning and the attack followed.  I cannot remember the specific date of his visit or his departure or the specific date of the attack, but I know the attack took place after Kambanda's departure.

Q.
Which is what you said to Mr. MacDonald, that the attack took place the day Kambanda came.  Then why do you say in your statement of 1999 that this second attack was approximately one week after Kambanda's visit?  You say this was approximately a week after Kambanda's visit.  Why did you change your story? 

A.
Are you saying I changed the version of events here?

Q.
Yes, for about the umpteenth number of times.  I don't know how many times you've changed the story, but ‑‑

A.
I have told you that the attack took place, but I continue saying that I cannot recall the exact dates of the attack, but the attack did take place.  If I mentioned it when I was giving my statement, I don't know what I said at the time.  I know I mentioned it during my testimony.  Besides, I don't know Kambanda to be able to invent or make up a visit of Kambanda.  If you want, I can even tell you of ‑‑ I can tell you about the clothes he was wearing.

Q.
The reason you changed your story, I suggest, is that in your original virgin (sic) ‑‑ version when you said that the attack took place one week after Kambanda's visit, that's not good enough because it doesn't link Kambanda to the event.  So somebody told you to change that story, to make it ‑‑ the attack occur the same day so you could make it look like Kambanda instigated it in some way, and the bishop.  Isn't that why you changed it? 

A.
But, according to you, who could have told me?  Do I have a father, a brother or a friend here who would whisper to me what I should say?  I came here to testify in this case, but I have no relatives here.  And I have no friends here; I have no relatives here.  I, obviously, have forgotten the date on which the incident took place, but that does not mean that you should be telling me that somebody told me what to say. 

Q.
Well, I will tell you who told you what to say.  You are also a member of Ibuka, aren't you?  So I suggest that you are both ‑‑ you are still on the pay of RPF, and the Ibuka also helped you create this story, along with others.  

A.
I'm not a member of Ibuka.  Besides, I don't know where the Ibuka office is.  I live in the countryside, in my house, and I don't know if Ibuka has an office in my village or in town. 

MR. BLACK:

Before my friend stands up ‑‑ I'm going to cross‑examine her on this before you help her out.  I'm going to nail her on this and you are going to sit down.  

He is going to tell you something about what's in her statement so to help her out.  I'm going to nail her.  You sit down.  

MR. PRESIDENT:

Mr. Black, you must get me to tell him to sit down. 

MR. BLACK:

Well, Mr. President, please ask him to sit down.  He's going to try and stop my cross‑examination. 

MR. PRESIDENT:

Yes.  Well, that is the way it should happen.  

Yes, Mr. Tambadou?

MR. TAMBADOU:

As your Lordship please.

MR. PRESIDENT:

(Microphone not activated)
MR. BLACK:

In fact, I would like her earphones off because ‑‑ 

MR. PRESIDENT:

Yes.

MR. BLACK:

Would you ask her to take her earphones off, Mr. President, please?
MR. PRESIDENT:

No.  They are not translating.  I told them not to translate. 

MR. TAMBADOU:

My Lord, I don't know why my learned friend is jumping at me, really.  

MR. BLACK:

You know exactly why. 

MR. TAMBADOU:

All I'm saying is I want my learned friend to point out to me where either ‑‑ if it is any other source apart from the statement, then he can cross‑examine, where did he get the information that this witness is a member of Ibuka, because we can't just allow him to pick the things from the air or pluck it from the air and then say, "You are a member of Ibuka," as if the witness did say she was, and that is reflected in the records. 

MR. PRESIDENT:

She has denied the fact that she is a member. 

MR. TAMBADOU:

Yes.  But the way that he put the question, "You are a member of Ibuka.  You did" ‑‑ as if the witness has already – 
MR. PRESIDENT:

Yes, Counsel, I think you must be a little careful with regard to the witness also. 

MR. BLACK:

Well, I'm going there. 

BY MR. BLACK:

Q.
Ma'am, you just told me you don't know where the office of Ibuka is or any other contact information, yet on your statement it says this:  Paragraph 14: "Name and address of ****************that might*************************:  Name:  ********************; Address:  Ibuka office, Gitarama; Telephone:  **********.”  

How could you put that on your statement if you don't know ‑‑ if you don't know where the office of Ibuka is located, you don't know anybody in Ibuka?  And you make these lies up as you go along.  You don't care about what you've been telling to these Judges?  You have contempt for these judges, or what, and for us? 

A.
You are referring to********************.  Well, his father and mother live*********, and, in any event, he is a Hutu.  That's to tell you that I'm telling the truth.  I gave this person *********so that people can contact him if they are***********.  In any case, he is not a Tutsi; he is a Hutu.  And today he is no longer a member of the RPF ‑‑ 

Q.
So you lied when you ‑‑

A.
‑‑ nor Ibuka. 

Q.
So you lied when you said you did not know anybody in Ibuka or any address for an office of Ibuka or any other information; that was a lie.  Why did you lie to these judges and to me and to the public watching you, listening to you? 

A.
This is what I told you.  I told you I don't know Ibuka.  But I told **************-- he's a*****************; he has a shop in Gitarama, and he comes from the region.  Maybe he knows the Ibuka people.  He carries on his trading activities in that area, and he often comes to*********.  Maybe he knows those people.  And they can give him a *************.  It is, therefore, not necessary for him to be a member of Ibuka.

Q.
All right.  Let's just ‑‑ 

MR. BLACK:

I will finish by lunchtime, Mr. President ‑‑ or, will I?  Are we taking a break now or ‑‑ I won't.  I will finish just after lunch, about a half an hour maybe. 

MR. PRESIDENT:

Yeah.

MR. TAMBADOU:

My Lord, I don't know ‑‑ I was wondering, if he is going to take another half an hour, whether we couldn't just continue another half an hour and push our break time. 

MR. BLACK:

Well, I don't want to ruin everybody's lunch because I can't guarantee that, but ‑‑ so I don't want to do that. 

MR. TAMBADOU:

Because, I mean, the tendency is ‑‑ Mr. MacDonald did say this morning that he was going to take a half an hour.  He took two hours this morning.  The tendency is, after lunch, the cross‑examination tends to go further and ‑‑ 

MR. BLACK:

No.  I assure you I've got one line of questioning which has to do with her travels through the region, and it won't take ‑‑ it shouldn't take longer than a half an hour. 

MR. PRESIDENT:

Yeah, we will give him a half an hour after lunch.  We will resume after lunch. 
(Court recessed at 1234H)
(Pages 23 to 44 by Leslie Todd)
(Court resumed at 1435H)
MR. PRESIDENT:

Yes, Mr. Black.  

MR. BLACK:

Thank you.  

BY MR. BLACK: 

Q.
Ma’am, I would just like -- you said you lived ‑‑ or, you are from Murambi.  Which Murambi is that?  I understand that there are two Murambis in that area.  Is it the Murambi north of Cyakabili, or Murambi ‑‑ between Cyakabili and Shyogwe?

A.
I would like some clarification.  Are you saying that I spoke about Murambi today in my testimony, or did I talk about Murambi in another place?  

Q.
Well, it doesn't matter where you talked about Murambi, ma'am, I just want to know where you lived.  You say your home is in Murambi cellule, but I understand there may be two Murambis.  Is there ‑‑ there's one north of Cyakabili ‑‑ I understand there's one between Cyakabili and Shyogwe.  Is that correct, and if so, which one did you come from so I can get an understanding ‑‑

A.
Did I mention Murambi in my testimony or in my statement?  That's the clarification I seek, counsel.  

Q.
I don't know why you need that because you mentioned it in both anyway.  Where did you live?  Or do you need that because you need to go back to the beginning of your memorised story?

A.
I lived in Rwanda. 

Q.
Ma'am, you're playing with us now.  Stop.

A.
I lived in Rwanda today ‑‑ I live in Rwanda in Nyamabuye commune.  You are saying I told you I lived in Murambi.  Are you saying I said that in my testimony or in my statement, or did you go through my identity card and, based on that, are you trying to insinuate that I told you so?  

Q.
What is your problem?  You said both in-chief and in your statement you lived ‑‑ your home was in Murambi and you fled from there.  I'm asking you where that is, that's all.  

MR. TAMBADOU:

My Lords, yes, I just wish to make an observation.  My learned friend is under the impression that the witness did state in-chief where she lived.  She did not specifically mention the place she lived.  I believe she's under the impression that if she mentions the place, her identity will be revealed, and that's why when she was asked the question, “Where did you live?”  She said, “I was living at the place” -- which we mentioned in the PIS.  She didn't say at all in ‑‑ 

MR. PRESIDENT:

So, you can ‑‑ Mr. Black, you can put it to her that in 1994 she lived ‑‑ to make it more specific to her. 

MR. BLACK:

Okay.  (Unintelligible)

BY MR. BLACK:

Q.
Anyway, in your statement, anyway, you say, "I was at home in Murambi cellule and that's where you fled from.  So I am trying to determine ‑‑ I understand there may be two places called Murambi; one just to the north of Cyakabili on the way to Kigali and one between Cyakabili and Shyogwe, so half way between.  Which one did you live at, come from in 1994?

A.
Counsel, I never said I lived in Murambi.  Perhaps you could tell us if you have looked at my identity card so as to assert that I lived in that place.  I never said so.  Did you look at my identity card, and are you now seeking to ask me questions on the place where I lived, whereas, you already know the answer?
Q.
Well, you say in three ‑‑ two places in your statement that you lived in Murambi cellule.  You said in the statement on your very first page ‑‑ just a minute.  You say on the first paragraph of that statement in 1999, "I was at home in Murambi cellule when I heard of the death of the president."  You say on the very first page, under your identification, “Current place of residence, Murambi.”  And, again, “April 1994, cellule, Murambi.”  What do you mean you didn't tell me and us that you were at Murambi or anybody else?  Is that where you lived then or not?

A.
Counsel, I told you that I never told you that I lived in Murambi.  I never mentioned the place where I lived.  All I said was that I lived in Rwanda.  And you took a copy of my identity information sheet and you've taken advantage of this to put your questions when I never told you that that is where I lived.  Maybe you looked at my identity card, but don't say that I told you that that is where I lived. 

Q.
You told the investigators in 1999 that's where you lived.  Did you lie to them then?  Was that a lie that you said, "I was at home in Murambi", and that's where you where living in 1994 and in 1999.  Is that a lie? 

A.
Counsel, I'm telling you that you have read my personal information sheet and you're asking me questions in order for my address to be known.  And you are trying to say I'm the one who told you.  I could not have told you where I lived.  Ask me questions and I'll tell you the answers.  All I can say in regard to my address is that I live in Rwanda.  

MR. TAMBADOU:

My Lord, if I may, it is going back to what I said earlier.  The witness is a little bit apprehensive about her address and she believes that revealing her place of residence, either in '94 or currently, tends to reveal her identity. 

MR. PRESIDENT:

And that is why we have to keep that in mind and … (Microphones overlapping).
MR. TAMBADOU:

He has the personal information sheet.  He can go ‑‑

MR. BLACK:

I got her statement.  It says so in her statement.

MR. TAMBADOU:

Yes, but you can ask her on the basis of what you have before you rather than reveal it openly.  She's apprehensive about that. 

MR. BLACK:

She's not apprehensive about anything except lying here and being found out, that's what she's apprehensive about.  

MR. PRESIDENT:

That is a matter for us to decide, Mr. Counsel.  You don't ‑‑

MR. BLACK:  

Well, she said she fled from a certain place and she said certain actions took place there which made her flee.  And we're entitled to know where that was.  Her statement says it's Murambi. 

BY MR. BLACK:

Q.
Ma'am, did you tell the investigators you lived in Murambi or not in 1999?

A.
I told you that I did not say so.  You have read the document containing this information, but don't make it look like it is I who said it.  And there is no way I can tell you.  All I can tell you is that I live in Rwanda.  

MR. BÂ:

Mr. President, if the Defence counsel intends to continue on this line of questioning.  Perhaps he could request a closed session.  The witness's concerns with regard to her security may be legitimate.  Ask for a five‑minute closed session and then ask your questions.

MR. BLACK:

I am not going to ask for a closed session because she ‑‑ her whole testimony was about actions in which she was identified in TRAFIPRO where she said all her neighbours were there.  Assuming all her neighbours survived, or some of them are still around, they will know who she was just talking about TRAFIPRO.  What do you want, the whole ‑‑ I mean, you can't have secret trials that the public can't find out what’s going here.  She’s… (Microphones overlapping)... now she's denying she even said it to the investigators.  That's not trying to protect herself or her security, that's lying in the face of this Court.  

MR. PRESIDENT:

(Microphones overlapping)… what she's told the investigators are not to the public.  

MR. BLACK:

Well, it's still a lie.  She's now denying she said that to the investigators.  
MR. PRESIDENT:

Yes, but – no, she -- Witness, tell me the cellule where you lived in 1994, without saying anything. 

MR. BLACK:

And I point out there are two Murambis so she couldn't be confused.  

THE WITNESS:

I lived in a cellule, one of the administrative entities of Rwanda.  Since it is a question that has been put by the President, I can specify that I did live in Murambi cellule, but I'm giving that answer because it is the President who asked. 

MR. PRESIDENT:

Witness, do you know another place by that name?  

THE WITNESS:

There are many places called Murambi, but I cannot be precise as to their location. 

MR. PRESIDENT:

Yes, Mr. Black. 

BY MR. BLACK:

Q.
All right.  So why did you say to me just a minute ago that you never told the investigators where you lived, that's where you lived?  Why did you lie about that?

MR. TAMBADOU:

My Lord, I object.  She said she didn't tell him.  She didn't tell this Court where she lived.  

MR. BLACK:

My question was before, Mr. Counsel, why did she ‑‑ she denies telling this to the investigators.  That's still my question.  

MR. TAMBADOU:

I remember loud and clear she said I didn't tell you so. 

MR. BLACK:

No, she didn't.

MR. TAMBADOU:

She didn't tell this Court that.

MR. PRESIDENT:

However, I made a comment that what she told the investigators is not to the public.  So... (Microphones overlapping)
MR. TAMBADOU:

As Your Lordship pleases.  

BY MR. BLACK:

Q.
So, ma'am, again, why did you tell me you did not say that to the investigators?

A.
That is not what I told you, counsel.  I have just answered the question as put to me by the President of this Chamber because I must answer any questions that he puts to me. 

Q.
(Microphones overlapping)… questions I put to you too, and the President will tell you that as well.  You're not making me very happy, ma'am.  And I can go on a lot longer than you want if you insist on playing this kind of game.  So, I ask you again, you told me you didn't tell the investigators that.  Was that a lie when you said that or not?  Well, obviously it was.  

A.
I told you that I never told you about that and that you actually read this in a document, and yet I have just answered the question put by the President of the Chamber.  However, you never asked me what my address was.  You are putting this question to me because you saw that information on my personal information sheet.
Q.
So you tell me now, which Murambi did you live in?  Was it the one north of Cyakabili or the one between ‑‑ near Shyogwe?  Which one did you live in because I want --
A.
Counsel, you ought to know the answer, at least, because you read that in the document that I provided to you.  If I have told you ‑‑ 

MR. PRESIDENT:

Please, give an answer.  You said that there are many Murambis.  And when the question is put to you, please answer.  There is nothing in that (unintelligible) disclose this place or the other place.  

THE WITNESS:

All right.  I lived in the Murambi that is between Cyakabili and Shyogwe. 

BY MR. BLACK:

Q.
Thank you.  So when you fled ‑‑ when you say you fled, you fled from your house to Shyogwe.  What, is that about two kilometres or so, roughly, or less?  You went south, maybe, one or two kilometres to Shyogwe?

A.
I cannot tell you the distance in kilometres, but it was a long distance. 

Q.
Well, I understand between Cyakabili and Shyogwe is about five ‑‑ roughly, four to six kilometres, something like that.  That is just an estimate; is that correct?  Maybe, two or three miles.  

A.
Counsel, I told you that I cannot give an estimate in kilometres.  I cover that distance on foot.  But it is not possible for me to estimate the distance in kilometres. 

Q.
All right.  Because the Judges have no idea of the layout of the land, or which direction you travelled, or where these places are.  We have no map, so I'm going to try and give them one with your help, if you can help.  So you travelled, I put it to you, one to two kilometres from your house south to Shyogwe.  Then you go from Shyogwe later and you go north ‑‑ directly north again along the main road to Laurent's house to Cyakabili; correct?

A.
Counsel, I told you that when I left home I went to Shyogwe.  I do not know why you're still making me back track.  I told you I went to Shyogwe and that I spent two days there.  From there I went to Cyakabili. 

Q.
That's right.  That's what I am saying.  You went south from your house to Shyogwe, a couple of kilometres, then you went north about six kilometres to Laurent's house to Cyakabili, right down the main road, right, and you stay there for a while.  

A.
I do not know how many kilometres I walked.  All I know though is that from Shyogwe I went Cyakabili where I remained.  Maybe you should ask me how much time I stayed in that place. 

Q.
Well, we know you spent some time in Laurent's place.  Now, when you left Laurent's place, you then go straight back south down that same road to Kabgayi, which is near Shyogwe on the same road.  You went right back south again, correct, to get to TRAFIPRO?

A.
No.  It did not happen like that.  I did not go from Cyakabili southwards or towards Shyogwe; I went towards Kabgayi.  There are two routes; there is one that goes from Cyakabili to Kabgayi, and there's one from Shyogwe to Kabgayi.  There was no reason for me to go back on my steps. 

Q.
Well, ma'am, there's only one road, one main road, and you took that road and it goes right back south.  And the reason you're now saying that is because it doesn't make sense for you to go back, does it?  You say you flee the area around Murambi‑Shyogwe to get away from the marauding Interahamwe, and then you go north to Cyakabili, and then after that you go right back to the same place, the same area where you were fleeing from.  That's why you don't want that to come out now.

MR. PRESIDENT:

Well, counsel, she says that there are two routes and she took ‑‑ 

MR. BLACK:

Well, there are two roads.  Well, it doesn't matter.  There’s two roads that have to be parallel to come down here.  This is Cyakabili, Shyogwe, TRAFIPRO.  Even if she took a different route it has to be parallel, she's still going in the same direction back to the same area. 

BY MR. BLACK:

Q.
So my question is, ma'am, why in earth after fleeing to Cyakabili, to seek refuge with Laurent, would you go straight back to the place you fled from?  

A.
No.  One can use several routes.  One can take the tarred road, but since I was fleeing, I could not take the tarred road and I took a short cut.  Besides, I must say that I did not return to Shyogwe because there is no relation between Shyogwe and Kabgayi.  There's nothing linking the two. 

Q.
That's right.  You went to Cyakabili to here, and you went straight down to Kabgayi, which is maybe less than a kilometre from Shyogwe.  You went back to the same area.  I'm asking you why would you do that if you are running away from that area?  And I suggest to you the reason you did that was because ‑‑ right, go ahead.

A.
Counsel, I do not see what you're trying to say.  Could you please be clearer?  

Q.
You know exactly what I'm trying to say.  And I'm going to put a suggestion to you.  The reason you went north to Cyakabili then back south down the same road, or even the parallel road to the same area, was because you were on a reconnaissance mission for the RPF, and you were noting down, as you told us, who was manning barricades, at what times and at what places.

A.
No, from Cyakabili, I did not return to Kabgayi, at least, to Shyogwe, because there is no link between Shyogwe and Cyakabili.  And I must tell you there are several routes that one can use.  I did not use the same route I'd used when going.  Moreover, I did not use the tarred road.  I went through the wood on my way to Kabgayi because Kabgayi is not linked to Shyogwe. 

Q.
Well, no, ma'am, that's not possible because then you would not have run into any roadblocks, if you went through the woods, and you told us that you ran into a couple of roadblocks on the main road.  This is where they were.  So you're lying again.

A.
There were roadblocks along paths along the country roads.  There were roadblocks.  I did not take the paved or tarred road.  I used the country paths or roads and there were roadblocks along those roads.  

Q.
When you went to Cyakabili to go to Laurent's house, you went passed the commune office at Nyamabuye, and the filling station, and the Hotel Tourism and so on?

A.
But I did not tell you that that was the route I used.  I said I took the country roads.  There were other paths that one could have used, but you say I passed by the Hotel Tourism.  I do not know that hotel you are referring to. 

Q.
Okay.  So which roads did you take?  You went through the woods.  You said your children did that.  You said you took the main road with your husband.  

A.
I took paths.  But why are you still asking me questions on the routes I took?  I said to you that I ‑‑ I gave you the itinerary I used using the country roads on my way to Kabgayi.  I cannot give you the names of the tracks or routes that I used.  I used the woods on my way to my destination.  

Q.
Ma'am, then, I put it to you, if you used the woods you wouldn't have come across any roadblocks at all because there were no roadblocks in the woods.  There are roadblocks on the road.  Your story doesn't make any sense.

A.
But I told you there were paths leading to the city of Gitarama, and there were places everywhere where one could encounter roadblocks.  Do you not know that there are turnoffs from the roads that could lead to main roads?  

Q.
Ma'am, you would flee the easiest way you could, which is down the main road, which is where you saw a couple of roadblocks as you told us.  And you travelled at night, so you said.  And you even made observations about roadblocks.  You said at TRAFIPRO you noted that it was manned ‑‑ in the day it was manned, but normally ‑‑ it was not manned ‑‑ you said normally it was manned in the day time, but not at night.  And when you use the word "normally", I put it to you you used that word because you observed that roadblock for several days.  That was your mission to get intelligence for the RPF on roadblocks, where they were, which ones were manned and at what times.  That's why you said that.

A.
I told you that the roadblock that was not manned at night was the one in front of Kabgayi.  I was not spying.  I was fleeing.  I was fleeing death.  I was not on a mission to spy on behalf of the RPF as you say.  

Q.
Then why did you observe that roadblock all night to make sure it wasn't manned at night?  How can you say it wasn't manned all night unless you sat there and watched it and took notes about what time they did man it? 

A.
Are you referring to the roadblock of Kabgayi?  Well, there were no people to man that roadblock at Kabgayi.  The only roadblock which was manned was the one near the church building.  So the roadblock that was manned was the one close to the football field.  But don't say that I was on a spying mission.  I was just fleeing.  Do you think somebody on a spying mission can walk at night?  

Q.
Exactly.  That's your
 job, isn't it, sneak around at night in the dark.  That's what spies do.

A.
I was just fleeing.  I was not on a spying mission.  I fled to Kabgayi and I found a large number of people there.  You think if I were on a spy mission I would have gone through the woods, and do you think it was my mission to spy on the eucalyptus trees?  You think one can speak to a tree?  

Q.
You said that that roadblock, in particular, in the day it was manned.  You said they normally come in the day time; it was not manned at night, which means you observed that roadblock for some time and more than one day.  I put it to you that you were on a spying mission, that's what you said.  

MR. PRESIDENT:

Counsel, she had denied that.  You can… (Unintelligible).
BY MR. BLACK: 

Q.
Okay.  Where was Laurent's house located exactly?

A.
Are you referring to Laurent?  His house was at Cyakabili. 

Q.
And were in Cyakabili, near the road, away from the road, near the dispense ‑‑

A.
Laurent's house was not by the road, but quite a distance from the road. 

Q.
Did you have to go near the dispensary to get to there ‑‑ to get there?

A.
The dispensary was down hill.  I went across the tarred road.  And I don't know why you continue asking me such questions, go into detail.  I don't know why you want to know the route I took to get to Laurent's place.  I just don't know why you want to know where I lived.  If you want to conduct your investigations in my area, you can come and I will show you where I passed.  I was a refugee at Laurent's before going on to Kabgayi.  And I told you that he lived in Cyakabili. 

Q.
So you went across the tarred road around the dispensary.  You saw the dispensary at the bottom of the hill so you saw a ‑‑ the road around there.  You went across that road there.

A.
No, I did not get close to the dispensary.  I only went across the road.  I didn't get next to the dispensary because I didn't need (unintelligible). 

Q.
Okay.  But where did you cross the road, at what point, to get to Laurent's house?

A.
But, counsel, tell me why you continue asking me such details.  Don't ask me exactly where I passed.  Why are you asked me how I crossed the road?  If I went close to the dispensary, I told you I went across the road while fleeing.  Maybe you're going to ask me when I got to Laurent's place, but I'm not going to tell you.  I just know that I crossed the streets and fled towards Cyakabili. 

Q.
At what point did you cross that main road to get to Laurent's house?  That's what I want to know.  

MR. PRESIDENT:

Well, counsel, I don't think she can give that exact point.  

MR. BLACK:

She can.  She said she saw the dispensary ‑‑  

MR. PRESIDENT:

Yes, but she said that she didn't go towards the dispensary, she went before the dispensary. 

MR. BLACK:

So that's what I want to know. 

MR. PRESIDENT:

She said that.

MR. BLACK:

No, I want to know where in relation to the dispensary she crossed that road because it is important for what I'm trying to get at. 

BY MR. BLACK:

Q.
Did you cross the road near the dispensary?  I don't care if you went to the dispensary, I just want to know -- trying to picture where you crossed.

A.
There were several routes.  I crossed the tarred road and I got to the untarred road.  And what I'm worried about is you asking me questions about how I crossed the road.  All the details of it.  Why do you want to know all the details?  Just know that I crossed the tarred road while fleeing. 

Q.
Why don't you want to tell me the details?  What are you trying to hide we don't know about?

A.
I told you that I crossed the tarred road and got to the untarred road before getting to Laurent's place.  I told you I crossed the road to get to the countryside.  Do you want me to say I walked on the road?  I crossed the tarred road and I got to Cyakabili.  I don't know why you want to know exactly at what point I crossed the main road. 

Q.
That is none of your concern, ma'am.  It is for me to determine my questions.  You just answer them, that's all.  It's very simple.  Stop trying to second guess where I'm coming from.  Only liars do that.  Did you cross north or south of the dispensary?

A.
When I was crossing the road I crossed up hill from the dispensary. 

Q.
I'm sorry, is that north or south of the dispensary?  Is it towards Kigali or away from Kigali?  

MR. BLACK:

I don't know why my friend is up again.  

MR. TAMBADOU:

Yes, My Lord ‑‑ 

MR. PRESIDENT:

It's very difficult, for a person to know whether it is (Microphones overlapping).

MR. TAMBADOU:

(Microphones overlapping)
MR. PRESIDENT:

-- you know.
MR. BLACK:

Well, the main road goes ‑‑ 

MR. PRESIDENT:

Unless you say that whether it was this ‑‑ give a particular point and say that --
BY MR. BLACK:

Q.
This main road goes north and south, from Kigali down to Butare.  So she was crossing ‑‑ I want to know if she crossed ‑‑ uphill doesn't hell help me, ma'am.  I want to know whether you crossed north, that is, more towards Kigali that dispensary or south, away from Kigali.  I don't know why that's so hard to tell me that because you told me you could see the dispensary, so did you go beyond it?  Did you cross north of it, or before it?  

A.
No, let me also ask you questions.  Why do you want to know exactly at what point I crossed that road?  What is it ‑‑ exactly what is it that you want to know, be it on the Butare side or the Kigali side?  What is the point in asking me such questions?
MR. PRESIDENT:

Witness, listen to this.  These questions are asked ‑‑ these questions are coming from the Tribunal, so please answer them.  Don't think that it is the Defence questions.  So try to cooperate and give an answer.  We have to move on. 

BY MR. BLACK:

Q.
Ma'am, if you would just answer this question I could sit down in about five minutes.  Did you cross the road just north of the dispensary or just south because you said --
A.
I crossed the road on the Butare side in relation to the dispensary.  

Q.
All right.  And you had no trouble crossing the road at that point?

A.
No, no problem, because those who were at that place were people who knew Laurent. 

Q.
I don't know what you mean by that.  All right.  What do you mean by that?  Never mind.  When you went to ‑‑

A.
Yes, those who were at that place knew Laurent.  They were his neighbours.  They lived close to Laurent. 

Q.
But you crossed that road unimpeded?

A.
No.  At that stage I had no problems.  I had problems well before when I started fleeing.  Further, the person who was accompanying me was pleading for me because I told you last week that I was accompanied. 

Q.
I think -- just the last thing.  I'm very curious.  You said you went to this TRAFIPRO, you went there, you saw that the roadblock was unmanned, you make some observations about that roadblock, that it's only manned during the day time, and then you say you go inside TRAFIPRO, you went to ‑‑ freely, right?  You walk right in there? 

A.
I have told you that I had problems when I got to the Kabgayi roadblock that is down hill from the church building.  At the TRAFIPRO complex, I had no problem getting into the compound.  I had problems later on, but I had no problem entering the compound. 

Q.
Right.  You had no trouble because the roadblocks were not always manned there, at night they were unmanned.  So when you saw there was trouble at TRAFIPRO why didn't you just walk right back out again and go somewhere else for refuge since no one was stopping you?

A.
Where do you think I could have gone?  Since I got to the TRAFIPRO complex and found other people there, where did you want me to go?  Everywhere you went, you get killed.  So what ‑‑ where, for example, you propose I go at that time?  

Q.
I bet you knew where ‑‑ your children were safe at Laurent's place, Cyakabili.  They survived.  You knew they were safe there.  I don't know why you left there in the first place.  But you could have gone straight back there in a couple of hours.  And you stayed there at TRAFIPRO to be raped multiple times, you say.  You never leave, and there's no guards on the gate, there's nothing.  You could have walked out of there any time these soldiers weren't coming by, any time.  Anybody there could have left TRAFIPRO any time they want.  And you're telling us to believe you just stayed there week after week after week watching people being killed and people being raped, and you could have left any time.  Nobody's going to believe that fantastic story.

A.
I told you the circumstances under which I fled Cyakabili.  And when I got there, I realised that the soldiers had come to look for my children and that they were searching the house at Laurent's place, and that Laurent lied that some of the children were his and others belong to the sister.  And I told you how I hid myself.  I also told you how I left Laurent's house because we did not want to have the children, who were in Laurent's house, killed. 

Q.
I don't understand that answer at all, but ‑‑ then, why didn't you leave TRAFIPRO and flee further south to Butare?  Why didn't you go to the government headquarters in Murambi and ask for the protection of the police?  Why didn't you go and stay in the church?  There are many places you could have gone, ma'am, if, what you say, is true?

A.
If you're referring to the church, well, the refugees who fled to the church were sent away.  If I had gone to the church ‑‑ and it's good you're telling me that there was a government, but you know a Tutsi cannot flee to the government; for example, the major, Nyiransabimana, was a woman like me.  She's a major.  Why did she beat me up?  Do you think I would have had any peace fleeing if there was a Hutu government? 

Q.
Well, she didn't beat you up.  She wasn't even there.  She was a nurse in a hospital.  So that's a lie.  So let me ask you this: you hated that government, didn't you?  You hated the Hutu government and that's why you joined the RPA and became a soldier because ‑‑ 

A.
I had nothing against that government apart from the fact that they killed members of my family and destroyed my house.  That's when I started hating them, and that's not the first time they were doing that to me.  So don't insist on trying to get me to accept that I was a member of the RPF.  Don't make me repeat the same thing.  I'm just recounting what I saw. 

Q.
Now you're a member of the RPF.  It says in your statement, you said it multiple times, you are a member of the Rwandan Patriotic Army.  Today you try to shift it to say, “I was only a member of the RPF political wing.”  Now you are denying even that.  Ma'am, I have never met ‑‑ I mean, you people who come from Rwanda and working for the RPF, their arrogance is unbelievable.  To change a story every two seconds and expect us to take it ‑‑ you hated this government, didn't you, and that's why you joined the RPA?  

MR. PRESIDENT:

Mr. Black, you can suggest to her and then conclude your ‑‑ 

BY MR. BLACK:

Q.
Ma'am, you ‑‑ ma'am, just a minute.  Ma'am, you joined the Rwandan Patriotic ‑‑ 

A.
You want to make me crazy.  Which government are you referring to, counsel?  Why would I have to hate that government?  I told you that I took the RPF membership card.  I never campaigned for RPF.  And I told you that even the person who distributed the cards died.  Don't drive me crazy, counsel.  I have told you what I know and what I saw.  And don't tell me that I hated that government.  And, in any event, I will be right in hating that government; they killed all members of my family. 

Q.
Ma'am, you joined the RPA in 1990 before the very first invasion by the RPF army.  You joined them before that, and you did that because you wanted to overthrow that regime.  (Microphones overlapping)… of the RPA.  Wait until I finish my question, ma'am.  You joined the RPA because you agree with their objectives, which was to overthrow the Habyarimana regime because you hated it.  You said to us you felt oppressed by them, which is another lie.  And, therefore, you're still continuing today because you still want these men, who were members of that government, in prison which is the whole objective of the RPF occupation regime in Kigali now, and you're one of them.  That's why you're testifying here.  That's your motivation; not to tell the truth but to put these men in prison because you hated that government.  That's your motivation, ma'am.

A.
First of all, I told you that when I took that card I never used it.  And I am not the person who arrested these people and put them in prison.  I'm only recounting events that I witnessed.  I told you I did not even know names of the soldiers.  And the last time I told you that they were nicknamed Sengombey (phonetic) and others, otherwise I had nothing against Habyarimana.  I did not hate him.  But after that government destroyed my house, killed members of my family, my children, I would be right in hating that government.  How can someone kill members of your family and in return you like him?  

Q.
Ma'am, your organisation killed the president.  Don't come here and tell me you felt sad or you liked the president.  Your organisation killed the president.  And you want to put these men in prison for life too.  When you took that RPA card, you created an act of treason, and you have been doing so ever since.  You're a traitor, you're a liar.  You can go home to Rwanda.  

MR. PRESIDENT:

Thank you witness for come and giving ‑‑ do you have any questions?

THE WITNESS:

I don't know the person who killed the president.  I was in the countryside when I heard about the death of the president.  And don't continue accusing me for having killed the president of the republic.  

MR. PRESIDENT:

Yes.  

MR. BLACK:

You're a member of criminal conspiracy and you still are, ma'am.  

MR. PRESIDENT:

Enough, enough.

Do you have any questions?  

MR. TAMBADOU:

My Lord, I just have one question and a comment.  

RE‑EXAMINATION
BY MR. TAMBADOU: 

Q.
Witness, during cross‑examination by counsel on Thursday, you referred to many wars.  You said there were wars in 1963, 1967, 1973.  Can you explain to this Court what you mean by wars?

A.
When I referred to those wars, they had just ‑‑ they had put a question to me on my identity card, and I was replying that -- to get this identity card, with Hutu, my in‑laws had to pay a price for us to be able to obtain the ID card.  I made reference to the war to say that it was necessary to obtain the Hutu ID card for it to be able to protect me whenever necessary. 

Q.
Okay.  I understand that.  Just listen to my question again: you referred to wars.  I know ‑‑ according to you, it was necessary to obtain the identity card for protection during these wars.  Can you explain what you meant by "wars".  Who was fighting who?

A.
Since 1959, the Tutsis had been killed.  In 1960, during the Karampaka (phonetic) referendum, the Tutsis were chased around.  I was born.  And I saw what happened in 1973 as well.  You can even ask me the number of victims.  I was there and I could see.  

MR. TAMBADOU:

My Lord, that is my last question for this witness. 

THE WITNESS:

And the same thing happened in 1967, people were killed and I could see them being killed.

MR. TAMBADOU:

However, I just wish to make a comment.  I would urge My Lords to bear with me.  

MR. MACDONALD:

I object to that.  He's entitled to put questions to the witness, he's not entitled to make comments.  
MR. PRESIDENT:

(Microphones overlapping).  We will be careful considering all of the evidence.  

MR. TAMBADOU:

No, no, no, My Lord, I don't want to comment on the witness's testimony.  Not at all.  I will not do that, not for anything.  I'm commenting on the demeanour, on the part of my learned friends across the room.  Now ‑‑

MR. MACDONALD:

Again, I object.  There's nothing in the Rules allowing him to make comments at this stage, Mr. President.  

MR. PRESIDENT:

He's not commenting on the witness's ‑‑ it's something else.  

MR. TAMBADOU:

Yes, My Lord, I have a complaint (Microphones overlapping).

MR. MACDONALD:

Well, following our probably bad behaviour, he's going to tell you, in cross‑examining that witness, so it amounts to the same thing.  It is in relation to cross‑examination.  

MR. TAMBADOU:

Not just this witness, My Lord, but ‑‑ what we tell our witnesses is to extend courtesy to our learned friends across the room.  Now, every witness that we have got here has been insulted in different ways.  

MR. PRESIDENT:

Yes, and now, I think, counsel, you must remember that you are in a privileged position to put questions to the witness.  And if the witness is also given the same privilege, they will also give candid answers.  So when you say that they are lying and coming out with various things, you must be careful because they have not come here just to tell a story and go.  So they have come here ‑‑

MR. BLACK:

I object to that, Mr. President.  That's exactly what they have come here for and we (unintelligible) every witness ‑‑ 

MR. PRESIDENT:

No, no, no ‑‑

MR. BLACK:

‑‑ any member of the public.

MR. PRESIDENT:

(Microphones overlapping).  You must allow witnesses to say what they have to say.  Let the public judge them. 

MR. BLACK:

And when they're lying, we are entitled to cross‑examine them and point out that's what they are doing.  That's what every one of them ‑‑ 50 witnesses have lied, every one of them.  And they haven't got a case.  It's a scandal what's going on here.  

MR. PRESIDENT:

I don't think that you are permitted to make any comments on the witness's testimony now.  If you have anything to say, you can say in your last comment.  And we will decide whether they are lying or not, not (Microphones overlapping) 

MR. BLACK:

I agree with that, Mr. President, but ‑‑

MR. PRESIDENT:

(Micophones overlapping)

MR. BLACK:

‑‑ frankly, you and your brother and sister judges are being manipulated and so are we.  

MR. PRESIDENT:

No, we cannot be manipulated by you or anyone else.  For your information, I will tell you, we cannot be manipulated even by the United Nations.  We are here to do a job.  That's all.

Thank you, Witness, for coming and giving evidence.

MR. BLACK:

I'm very glad to hear that, Mr. President.  

MR. PRESIDENT:

Yes, yes.

Yes, you may call your next witness.  How long will you take with this witness?  

MR. JEGEDE:

Your Honours, I believe, two and a half hours. 

MR. PRESIDENT:

(Inaudible) 

MR. JEGEDE:

If they let me do it.  If they let me do it.  

MR. PRESIDENT:

Yes.  

Then we have a problem tomorrow.  We will be sitting only until 1:00.  This Court is needed for some other case at 1:00, so you will have only half a day tomorrow.  So try to finish the witness today so that we can move on.  

Yes, get the witness.  

MR. JEGEDE:

Mr. President, Your Honours, the Prosecution calls Witness DBD, as the next Prosecution witness. 

MR. PRESIDENT:

BDB? 

MR. JEGEDE:

DBD.  D for delta, B for bravo, D for delta.

Your Honours, I ask that the oath be administered on the witness.

(Declaration made by Witness DBD, in Kinyarwanda)
MR. JEGEDE:

Your Honours, I would like to request the assistance of the Kinyarwanda interpreter.

WITNESS DBD,

first having been duly sworn,

testified as follows:

EXAMINATION‑IN‑CHIEF
BY MR. JEGEDE:

Q.
Witness, has the document in front of you been read and interpreted to you?

A.
Yes, the document has been read to me and the information contained in the document is correct?

Q.
Is there a signature at the bottom of the page?

THE ENGLISH INTERPRETER:

Counsel's intervention was not heard.

BY MR. JEGEDE:

Q.
Is there a signature at the bottom ‑‑

A.
The information contained in the document is quite correct.  

THE ENGLISH INTERPRETER:

There was an overlap, so that the French booth did not hear counsel's intervention in English. 

BY MR. JEGEDE:

Q.
Is there a signature at the ‑‑

A.
Yes, the document does indeed bear my signature.  

THE ENGLISH INTERPRETER:

The overlap continues.  The French booth cannot hear you.  The French booth and even the English booth cannot hear you.

MR. JEGEDE:

So what's happening?
BY MR. JEGEDE: 

Q.
So who's signature is it?  

A.
It is my signature. 

Q.
Thank you.  

MR. JEGEDE:

Your Honours, the Prosecution wishes to tender the PIS as the next Prosecution exhibit, number 31? 

MR. PRESIDENT:

It is admitted and placed under… (Microphones overlapping)
(Exhibit No. P. 31 admitted)
MR. JEGEDE:

Mr. President, I would like to commence the examination‑in‑chief in closed session for about five minutes.  

MR. PRESIDENT:

The session will be closed to the public for about five minutes.  

Counsel, the information sheet that you have given us does not carry the signature.  

MR. JEGEDE:

I believe the one has been put before the witness has a signature on it and that's the one we are tendering.  

MR. PRESIDENT:

Yes.

MR. JEGEDE:

Are we in closed session?  

BY MR. JEGEDE:

Q.
Witness ‑‑ 

MR. PRESIDENT:

No, Counsel, give them two minutes to change. 
(At this point in the proceedings, a portion of the transcript [pages 62 to 63] was extracted and sealed under separate cover, as the session was heard in camera)
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BY MR. JEGEDE: 

Q.
Witness, where were you on the 6th of April when President Habyarimana died?

A.
I was in Murambi in my house. 

Q.
What was the situation like in your neighbourhood and the days following the president's death?  What was the situation like?

A.
Following the president's death, the atmosphere changed within the population.  There were changes ‑‑ negative changes in the atmosphere. 

Q.
What changes were those, Witness?

A.
What changed is that war broke out.  We noticed ‑‑ we began to sleep outside our houses in the bushes.  No one ever went back to his respective house ‑‑ his or her respective house to sleep in.  

Q.
When precisely did you start living or sleeping in the bushes?

A.
I believe we began to sleep in the bushes a week, maybe, after the president's death.  People came from Buye fleeing and explained to us that their houses were being destroyed and that our turn would come next.  And this ‑‑ they started sleeping outside our houses with us.  The following day, the refugees remained with us for a day sleeping outside though.  The following day, though, we saw attackers who were chanting slogans, Tubatsembetsembe, meaning, "We exterminate them".  "Exterminate them."  And that is how we fled.  

MR. JEGEDE:

Your Honours, Buye is No. 1 on the groups and places list.  And Tubatsembetsembe is No. 1 on the other list, Tubatsembetsembe.

BY MR. JEGEDE: 

Q.
Witness, we're going to take this step by step now.  You said a lot in your last answer.  Do you recall the date you saw refugees from Buye?

A.
I think it was about a week after the president's death. 

Q.
Do you know the ethnic origin of these refugees that came from Buye?

A.
They were Tutsis, including my*********.  Since war had broken out in their area, they ran towards our area in the hope that we would not undergo the same fate. 

Q.
You said that that you heard attackers after you saw people from Buye chanting Tubatsembetsembe.  Do you know what that phrase means?

A.
It meant that the Tutsis were to be exterminated.  

Q.
Who were these people chanting Tubatsembetsembe?

A.
It was members of the population who were destroying our houses.  We immediately fled.  Most of the attackers were members of the population, our neighbours. 

Q.
How many were they?

A.
It was a large crowd.  I cannot estimate the number of attackers. 

Q.
Do you happen to know their ethnic group?

A.
They were Hutus. 

Q.
Where exactly were you when you heard them chanting in this way?

A.
We were in a sorghum field, sorghum seedlings. 

Q.
What did you do when you heard them chanting Tubatsembetsembe?

A.
We immediately ran away leaving that place. 

Q.
How many people were with you while you heard them chanting?  Were you alone?

A.
I was with my husband, my children and other people who had come to our house.  But when we fled, we split into groups, we separated. 

Q.
Where did you go that day when you heard the attackers chanting Tubatsembetsembe?

A.
Yes, immediately I went to Kangoma and Mayunzwe.  It is a hill beyond our area.  I went there with my husband and child.  

MR. JEGEDE:

Mr. President, Kangoma is No. 6. 

THE WITNESS:

When we left, I met my husband and child.  I came across them at the house of one Severien.

MR. JEGEDE:

Mr. President ‑‑ 

THE WITNESS:

His surname was Cyoya as well.  

MR. JEGEDE:

Mr. President, Kangoma is No. 6 on the groups and places list.  And Cyoya is No. 3 on the list of proper nouns.  

BY MR. JEGEDE: 

Q.
Witness, why did you flee to Kangoma cellule?

A.
I fled to Kangoma because I thought that Cyoya would hide me because he was a Hutu. 

Q.
Was Cyoya married?

A.
(By order of the Court, this answer has been extracted and filed under seal)
MR. JEGEDE:

Mr. President, I'll lodge that the witness's answer be put under seal. 

MR. PRESIDENT:

Yes, perhaps it should be kept under seal.  

BY MR. JEGEDE: 

Q.
How many of you escaped to your *********'s house?

THE ENGLISH INTERPRETER:

The witness's microphone is off.  

BY MR. JEGEDE:

Q.
Witness, you have to say the answer again, the answer to the last question.

A.
(By order of the Court, this answer has been extracted and filed under seal)
MR. JEGEDE:

Mr. President, if I may crave Your Lordships’ indulgence.  We will also do the same thing here.  She has repeated the last answer.  

MR. PRESIDENT:

The last answer should also be kept under seal.  

BY MR. JEGEDE:

Q.
Witness, we have to be careful not to reveal your identity.  If there's any information that you know would reveal your identity, you may tell the Court so that we know what to do about it.  Are we clear on that?  

A.
Yes, that's clear. 

Q.
How long were you at your *********'s house?

A.
I arrived at my **********'s and we spent a night there. 

Q.
Why did you leave her house?

A.
We left that house the day my husband was killed. 

Q.
Who killed your husband?

A.
There was an attack on us.  May I point out that on that day we were hiding in the bushes only coming out to ‑‑ when called for meals, and that day the attackers, one of whom was called Nzavayo (phonetic) and was in charge of surveillance.  When the assailants came, they found a small child.  They asked him if there were no people hiding in that place.  Nzavayo Bifilira, alias Muforomo and Munyemana told the assailants that there were people, and that is how they came and attacked us.  This group included Munyemana, Rufirira, Nsanzabaganwa and Muforomo.  

Q.
Thank you, Witness.  We're going to take each of those names now.  

MR. JEGEDE:

Your Honours, Munyemana is No. 6 on the list of proper nouns.  Rufirira is No. 8.  Nsanzabaganwa is No. 7.  Muforomo is No. 5.  

BY MR. JEGEDE: 

Q.
Witness, how did these attackers arrive?

A.
They knew that Tutsis were hiding in Cyoya's house and that is how they came to launch an attack on us.  When they arrived, they asked Cyoya to deliver the Tutsis to them.  The Tutsis who were hiding, given that he knew we were hiding in that place. 

Q.
Do you recall the names ‑‑ sorry.  Who were these men, the men that you've mentioned?

A.
They were members of the population hailing from Kangoma.  I knew them then and I know them now. 

Q.
Were they numbered by any special names?

A.
I don't know.  When I saw them they were wearing banana leaves as well as other leaves, and were carrying traditional weapons, machetes, spears and clubs. 

Q.
Had you known them before that day?

A.
Yes, I knew them.  They were inhabitants of that region.  I knew them.  

Q.
Where did these men take your husband?  You said they took your husband?

A.
They took him to a Protestant school in the locality and then they through his body into the school latrine.  We were told that he had just been killed and his body has been thrown into a latrine. 

Q.
Who told you that he has just been killed and his body has just been thrown into a latrine?

A.
Cyoya, the person who was hiding us; my husband's ***********
Q.
Do you know why you were spared by the armed men who took your husband away to be killed?

A.
No.  He did everything to protect us.  And, in fact, he gave the killers 30,000 Rwandan Francs for them not to kill us.  So I don't think he played a role in the killing of my husband.  

Q.
There must have been a translation problem, Your Honours.  My last question was:  do you know why you were spared by the men who took your husband away.  And the answer I got did not correlate with the question.  

MR. PRESIDENT:

(Microphone not activated)  

THE WITNESS:

At the time, women were not yet targeted.

BY MR. JEGEDE: 

Q.
What did you do after your husband was taken away?  

A.
My husband's ****** asked us to go because our fate was sealed.  She asked us to go and be killed at a place where she would not have to witness our killing.  We left during the night.  I cannot recall the exact time.  It was raining.  We took the direction of Shyogwe.  And we got to Shyogwe church at night and that is where we spent the night.  It was in the night of Friday. 

Q.
How many of you arrived at the Shyogwe church?

A.
I got to Shyogwe with one Vianney Wishike (phonetic).  

MR. JEGEDE:

Your Honours, Vianney, is No. 10 on the list of proper nouns.  

THE WITNESS:

But we were with other children as well as another woman.  We found other children there. 

BY MR. JEGEDE:

Q.
What did you observe when you arrived at Shyogwe church?

A.
We spent the night at Shyogwe and the following day, Saturday, Pastor Berchmans came to see us.  And there was a large number of soldiers and Interahamwe militiamen.  He asked us to move away from those people and took refuge in Kabgayi.  We left.  And before we left, he prayed for us, and he gave food to the children.  He advised us to leave in groups.  He asked the women to leave in a group because it was a market day and no one will know that we were fleeing.  That is how we left following the advice of this pastor. 

Q.
Approximately, how many soldiers did you observe at Shyogwe church?  

A.
There were very many and I cannot give you the number of soldiers who were present there.  It was in the morning and we were afraid.  The pastor had just is asked us to go.  And there were a large number of soldiers with their wife and children.  I'm not able to give you their number. 

Q.
How many Interahamwe did you see at Shyogwe church?

A.
Very many.  We were afraid.  And on an account of that situation, it was ‑‑ we could not pay attention to the people who were there and be able to estimate their number.  

Q.
Did you eventually go to Kabgayi as advised by Pastor Berchmans?

A.
Yes, that is what we did.  We left immediately.  And we got to a place called Kinini where we found a roadblock manned by three soldiers and two Interahamwes.  They stopped us and asked us for our identity cards.  We told them we had none.  

Q.
You said you saw three soldiers at Munini (sic) roadblock ‑‑

A.
It was the roadblock at Kinini. 

Q.
Is Kinini also referred to as Mubinini?

A.
It is, rather, Mukinini or Kunini.  It is a bit far from Shyogwe.

MR. JEGEDE:

Mukinini is No. 8 on the spelling list of groups of places, but it is spelt Mubinini here, but we should replace the B with a K.

BY MR. JEGEDE: 

Q.
How many of you arrived at the roadblock at Mukinini?

A.
I was with a woman and it was this woman and myself who was stopped. 

Q.
The soldiers who you saw at ‑‑ how were the soldiers at that roadblock dressed?

A.
They were wearing military uniform and were carrying guns. 

Q.
Did you personally know any of the soldiers you saw at that roadblock?  

A.
I knew one Joseph Sibomana.

MR. JEGEDE:

Your Honours, Sibomana is No. 9 on the list of proper nouns, Sibomana, Joseph.  

BY MR. JEGEDE: 

Q.
And how about the Interahamwe, Witness.  Did you know any of them before that day?  

A.
No, I knew only that soldier because he hails from Tambwe.

MR. JEGEDE:

(Microphones overlapping)... on the list of groups and places, No. 13. 

BY MR. JEGEDE: 

Q.
How did he know that these other persons were Interahamwe?

A.
He was wearing strange clothes and was carrying traditional weapons, sharpened sticks and clubs and other traditional weapons.  He was not carrying a gun like the soldiers.  
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BY MR. JEGEDE:

Q.
How did you come to know Sibomana, that you have mentioned? 

A.
I knew him.  He hails from Tambwe, as I said.  I knew him well before.  

Q.
What happened after you responded to the request to see your ID card, identity card? 

A.
We told them we have none.  Sibomana took me ‑‑ took me downhill from the roadblock in the woods.  

Q.
Did he speak to you while he was taking you away to the woods? 

A.
He took me into the woods while hitting me with the butt of his gun, and he was telling me that our fate was sealed and that we were only waiting for death.  

Q.
While he was taking you away to the woods, where was the other woman that arrived at the roadblock with you? 

A.
I don't know.  It is possible that another person took him -- took her to another place.  I could not look to see what was happening to her when I was being taken away and being beaten with the gun on me.  

Q.
On what part of the body were you being beaten, on what part of the body? 

A.
They were hitting me with the butt of the gun.  And when we got into the woods, he threw me on the floor.  

Q.
And as he was taking you to the woods, what was going on on your mind? 

A.
I knew I was going to die.  When somebody takes you away with a gun trained on you and hitting you, you can only wait for death.  I was scared, very scared, and I knew I was going to die.  

Q.
You said when you arrived at the place where Sibomana took you, he threw you on the floor, on the ground.  Who actually threw you on the ground?  Do you recall? 

A.
It was the same Sibomana who threw me on the ground and took off my kitenge cloth.  After he removed the kitenge, he removed his trousers while hitting me at the same time.  He brought out his sexual organ, which he inserted into mine. 

MR. JEGEDE:

Your Honours, "kitenge" is number 2 on the list of groups and places ‑‑ on the other list, on the third category in order.  So it's number 2 on that list.  

BY MR. JEGEDE:

Q.
Witness, I apologise for making you relive that day.

But while he was on top of you, where was his gun? 

A.
He pointed a gun at me.  I told you he opened his zipper, brought out his sexual organ, and penetrated me.  At that time he had already removed my ‑‑ my cloth.  

Q.
As he was having intercourse with you, what else was he doing? 

A.
He had his gun in his hand and pointed it at me.  He never placed it on the ground.  I've told you that he was hitting me and was asking me not to move.  I couldn't do anything else because I was scared.  

Q.
How long did the rape go on, Witness? 

A.
I cannot say.  Probably five minutes, but I'm not too sure.  

Q.
When Sibomana finished having intercourse with you, what happened? 

A.
Another person came, acted in the same manner.  He opened his zipper.  He also had a gun.  He hit me, insulted me, and after he opened his zipper, he brought out his penis and penetrated me.  

Q.
Where were you when this second soldier came? 

A.
I was still lying on the ground. 

Q.
Was this second soldier armed? 

A.
Yes, he was still ‑‑ he was also carrying a weapon.  He had a gun.  

Q.
While he was having intercourse with you, where was his gun? 

A.
I was not paying attention to see what was going on because I was very scared and I thought I was going to die.  All I know was that his gun was on my face. 

Q.
While he was raping you, did he say anything to you? 

A.
He was insulting me and hitting me, hitting me, insulting me, and he said I had no way of escaping, that I should just wait for death.  

Q.
What happened when the second soldier finished raping you? 

A.
A third soldier came.  He pointed his gun at me, opened his zipper, brought out his penis, and penetrated me.  

Q.
What happened after the third soldier finished having intercourse with you? 

A.
When they finished raping me, I was feeling very bad.  One of the three soldiers suggested that they kill me.  The other ‑‑ one refused and said, "No, let us leave her.  She'll be killed by someone else."  That is how I got up and left.  

Q.
Where did you go when you left that location?
A.
I went in the direction of Kabgayi.  I got to Kabgayi church where I found another roadblock manned by soldiers and Interahamwes. 

Q.
Are you able to describe what you saw when you arrived at that roadblock? 

A.
When we got to the roadblock, they asked us for our identity cards.  But when we got there, the killers were in the process of killing a Tutsi young man.  We told them we did not have identity cards.  They then told us to wait, and we sat down. 

Q.
Were you subsequently able to pass through the roadblock? 

A.
Yes.  Subsequently we got up and left.  Those holding ‑‑ those manning the roadblock said, "Go away.  Anytime we want you, we know where to get you."  And we went to the TRAFIPRO complex in Kabgayi.  We entered the complex and registered with the Red Cross.  

Q.
Do you know what "TRAFIPRO" means, Witness? 

A.
I don't know, but I would think it is a kind of fund, people's fund.  People used to say that it is TRAFIPRO.

Q.
Please describe to the Court what you observed when you arrived at TRAFIPRO. 

A.
When I got to TRAFIPRO, I witnessed some killings.  They were killing without discrimination.  I spent two weeks there.  The killers would come, take men, women, children.  Every day they came to take people away and kill them.  I cannot tell you the number of people who were killed.  

Q.
Are you able to estimate the number of people you saw when you arrived at TRAFIPRO? 

A.
They were many people, the kind of crowd you find in the marketplace on a market day.  

Q.
Were these people civilian or soldiers? 

A.
They were civilians, refugees just as myself.  And close to where the refugees were, there was a roadblock manned by soldiers.  

Q.
These persons you described as civilians, were they armed? 

A.
No.  They were refugees just like me who were in that building.  Those who were armed were those who controlled the roadblock, which was in front of that building.  

Q.
What can you say about the condition of the people at TRAFIPRO, the refugees at TRAFIPRO? 

A.
They lived in horrible conditions, unimaginable conditions.  It was like a horrible death, and I'm not in a position to describe to you the conditions prevailing in that place.  

Q.
What can you say about your own condition at that time, at the time you were in TRAFIPRO? 

A.
I was also in a very bad situation.  We had no drinking water, no food.  We had lice all over our bodies like sand, and there was mud everywhere.  In short, the situation was unlivable.  Some people died of cholera and dysentery. 

Q.
Do you know the ethnic group of the refugees that you found at TRAFIPRO? 

A.
They were Tutsis.  Anyone who escaped the killings would seek refuge in that place.  There were just Tutsis there. 

Q.
How were you able to establish that they were Tutsi? 

A.
But I would see them.  I knew most of the people who were in that place.  They were people, relatives of mine, others who were acquaintances.  Everybody sought refuge in that place. 

Q.
You said earlier that soldiers would come and take people away.  Do you recall how many times in a day that soldiers would come in that fashion? 

A.
They could come four, five, three times.  They came relentlessly.  And even when I got to that place, I was taken there by soldiers.  It was a building which had benches.  People would hide under the benches.  And whenever these soldiers came, they could point to someone for this person to be taken away, and they were targeting mostly intellectuals.  Most of the people taken away never came back.  

Q.
By what means were they selecting people taken away? 

A.
They would come, selecting men and women.  Some women could return, and others would not.  Of the men selected, some were shot dead on the spot.  

Q.
Do you recall anyone who was taken away by the soldiers, any specific person? 

A.
I remember one woman whose first name was Alodia.  She had a baby on her back, and she did not come back.  There was another young girl who was light in complexion.  I do not know if she was a nurse or not, but it appears to me she was an intellectual.  She was taken away and never came back.  Many others, too.  

Q.
In the ‑‑ 

A.
The woman whose first name was Alodia came from Muyunzwe in Kabagari region towards Kinihira. 

MR. JEGEDE:

Your Honour, I will implore the Kinyarwanda interpreter to spell all the names.  We don't have it on the list ‑‑ or, we don't have them on the list.  

THE ENGLISH INTERPRETER:

"Kabagari" is spelled K‑A‑B‑A‑G‑A‑R‑I.  "Kinihira," K‑I‑N‑I‑H‑I‑R‑A.  "Muyunzwe," M‑U‑Y‑U‑N‑Z‑W‑E.  "Alodia," A‑L‑O‑D‑I‑A. 

MR. JEGEDE:

Thank you.  

BY MR. JEGEDE:

Q.
Do you know where these soldiers were coming from, the soldiers who came to TRAFIPRO to take people away? 

A.
These were soldiers manning the roadblock located opposite the TRAFIPRO building. 

Q.
In the period that you were at Kabgayi, did you see any military officers there, senior military officers? 

A.
I knew none of the officers.  All I would see were soldiers in military uniform, armed.  I was not in a position to know whether such a soldier was an officer or not.  And in such a situation, as we were being hunted down, it would have been hard to draw our attention to ‑‑ or, rather, to know or distinguish one person from another.  It was difficult.  

Q.
Did you see any civilian authorities there in that period? 

A.
Commander came, and we were told he was the prime minister.  Those who knew him said he was a prime minister.  We applauded for him in the belief that he would help us, as we had been through a rough time.  He was in the company of a bishop.  They went on a walkabout around the refugees and left without speaking to us.  The night after their departure, an attack took place whereby many people were killed.  All through the night, people were killed, and the Red Cross took it upon itself to ferry the bodies that were strewn around that place as well as the wounded.  

Q.
Do you recall the name of the bishop that came with Prime Minister Kambanda? 

A.
Thaddée Nsengiyumva.  He was the bishop of Kabgayi.  

Q.
Witness, you said that you were selected, you said, by soldiers during the period you were in Kabgayi.  How many times were you selected? 

A.
Twice.  

Q.
Who selected you, Witness, on those two occasions? 

A.
Soldiers.  One soldier took me and handed me to three other soldiers, saying to them, "I have brought you some food."  And these soldiers took me to a ‑‑ a wood, a bush.  They grabbed my legs.  But as they were taking me, they were beating me.  And when we got to the woods, they threw me to the ground, and two soldiers grabbed my legs.  The third opened his fly.  I was beaten severely and could not properly observe what was going on because they were beating me.  

Q.
Thank you, Witness.  You said that one soldier ‑‑ the first soldier said he had found food for the others.  Who was the third? 

A.
I don't know.  I don't know what food they were referring to.  

Q.
And when he announced to them, what was their reaction? 

A.
They started laughing and then took me downhill.  One grabbed one leg, the other grabbed another leg, whilst yet another soldier climbed on top of me, opened his fly, held his gun in his hand.  He was beating me.  I was very scared.  I thought this was the end for me.  That is how he opened his fly, took out his penis, and penetrated me.  After he finished, his friends let go of my legs, and the second climbed on top of me.  There were three of them.  All of them were busy telling me, "What did you come here for?" 

Q.
When the first soldier finished raping you, what happened? 

A.
The first one raped me, took out his penis, and penetrated me.  But his two colleagues were holding my ‑‑ holding down my legs, holding my legs to the ground.  Meanwhile, they were beating me with the butts of his gun, on the chest, on the back, all over.  They'd already undressed me, removed my skirt, my kitenge, and all I had on me was my petticoat. 

Q.
Witness, you said you were taken on another occasion.  Do you recall this second occasion? 

A.
Actually, I was going out.  I had a child, you see.  And there was a little kiosk at the front of the camp.  There was a little shop therein which had various items.  Somebody had brought some money to me, and when I went out to see what food I could purchase for the baby, a soldier grabbed me, and they took me.  He was with two Interahamwe.  After they took me, along the way they were asking me why I had come there.  They were beating me with their gun butts as well as pieces of wood.  I was moaning, saying ‑‑ they were saying to me, "Why are you here?  Why didn't you go and join your brothers, the Inkotanyi?"  And there again they penetrated me, although the Interahamwe never did penetrate me.  They ‑‑ all they did was beat me severely. 

Q.
How long did the rape last this time? 

A.
Could you repeat your question, Prosecutor?  

Q.
You said you were raped by the soldiers.  How long did the rapes last? 

A.
Yes, I spent lots of time there.   I was lying down there.  And since I was very tired, weak ‑‑ very weak, I was prostrate for a very long time before I went back to the camp.  I think I left that place around 

2000 hours.  I cannot remember the ‑‑ the time anymore.  

MR. JEGEDE:

Your Honours, Mr. President, that will be the ‑‑ be it for the witness.  I have no further questions. 

MR. PRESIDENT:

Do you want to cross‑examine, Mr. MacDonald?  

MR. MACDONALD:

I could, but I'd rather not.  But since we didn't take a break, Mr. President, may I suggest ‑‑ 
MR. PRESIDENT:

Yeah, we'll take ‑‑ 

THE ENGLISH INTERPRETER:

Your Honour's microphone, please. 

MR. PRESIDENT:

We'll take the adjournment now. 

MR. MACDONALD:

Thank you. 

MR. PRESIDENT:

Court is adjourned until 9 tomorrow. 

(Court recessed at 1652H)
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